



## CONSIDERATIONS FOR DEVELOPING SEISMIC DESIGN CRITERIA FOR NUCLEAR WASTE STORAGE REPOSITORIES

April 1980

prepared for United States Department of Energy Nevada Operations Office Under Contract DE-AC08-76DP00099

prepared by URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers 130 Jessie Street (at New Montgomery) San Francisco, California 94105

#### DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by the United States Government. Neither the United States nor the United States Department of Energy, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, mark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof.

> Printed in the United States of America Available from National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield; VA 22161 Price: Printed Copy \$5.25 Microfiche \$3.00

2

# URS

## CONSIDERATIONS FOR DEVELOPING SEISMIC DESIGN CRITERIA FOR NUCLEAR WASTE STORAGE REPOSITORIES

G. Norman Owen Peter I. Yanev and Roger E. Scholl

April 1980

prepared for

United States Department of Energy Nevada Operations Office Under Contract DE-AC08-76DP00099

prepared by

URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers 130 Jessie Street (at New Montgomery) San Francisco, California 94105 ABSTRACT

As part of a program being conducted by the U.S. Department of Energy, Nevada Operations Office, to assess the feasibility of establishing a nuclear waste storage repository at the Nevada Test Site, URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, is conducting a study of seismic design criteria. This report summarizes the considerations for developing these criteria as of September 1979. Its purpose is to determine what research is necessary to develop acceptable seismic design criteria for nuclear waste repositories.

The function of seismic design criteria is to reduce the potential for hazards that may arise during various stages of the repository life. During the operational phase, the major concern is with the possible effects of earthquakes on surface facilities, underground facilities, and equipment. The consequences of possible earthquake damage could create a hazard to operating personnel; however, it is not clear that any of the hypothesized damage would lead to a hazard to the public health. Qualitative assessments of the effects of earthquakes on underground structures can be made from reports of past performance and from current empirical procedures. However, quantitative assessments are preferable. Unfortunately, quantitative assessments are not possible for underground structures with the current technology. During the decommissioned phase, the major concern is with the potential effects of earthquakes on the geologic formation, which may result in a reduction in isolation capacity.

Existing standards and guides -- or criteria -- used for the static and seismic design of licensed nuclear facilities were reviewed and evaluated for their applicability to repository design. Some of these standards and guides are applicable to the design of the surface structures of repositories because these structures are similar to the surface structures of licensed nuclear facilities. Underground structures, however, have never been licensed, and there are no existing standards and guides on which to base a design. Thus, the report is directed mainly toward the development of seismic design criteria for the underground structures of repositories.

- 11 -

An initial step in the development of seismic design criteria for the underground structures of repositories is the development of performance criteria -- the minimum standards of acceptable behavior. These criteria would be based on the possible damage modes to which the structures are susceptible under seismic motion. A number of possible damage modes are identified for the operating phase of the repository; however, no damage modes are foreseen that would perturb the long-term function of the repository, except for the possibility of increased permeability within the rock mass. Currently there are no definitive performance criteria for the underground structures of repositories.

Subsequent steps in formulating acceptable selsmic design criteria for the underground structures involve the quantification of the design process. At present, underground structures are designed most often using empirical methods. For purposes of licensing, however, the structures will likely be designed on the basis of stresses determined by analysis.

The report discusses the necessity of specifying the form of ground motion that would be needed for seismic analysis and the procedures that may be used for making ground motion predictions. Further discussions outline what is needed for analysis, including rock properties, failure criteria, modeling techniques, seismic hardening criteria for the host rock mass, and probabilistic considerations. The report concludes with recommendations for additional work needed to develop appropriate seismic design criteria for repositories.

- 111 -

## CONTENTS

s

		Page
	ABSTRACT	11
	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vī
	SUMMARY	vII
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Seismic Design Criteria Objectives Scope	1 2 4
2.	DESCRIPTION OF THE STRUCTURAL SYSTEM OF A REPOSITORY	5
	Surface Structures Underground Structures Equipment Systems Classification of Structures and Equipment	7 7 8 . 8
3.	DESCRIPTION OF THE SUPPORT SYSTEMS FOR UNDERGROUND EXCAVATIONS	10
	Rock Bolt System	10 12
4.	EXISTING DESIGN CRITERIA: SEISMIC STANDARDS AND GUIDES	14
	Surface Structures and Equipment Underground Structures	15 17
5.	SEISMIC DAMAGE MODES AND PERFORMANCE CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES	20
	Seismic Damage Modes \Performance Criteria	20 23
6.	GROUND MOTION CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES	25
7.	ROCK PROPERTY AND FAILURE CRITERIA	29
	Dynamic Rock Property Criteria Failure Criteria	29 29
8.	SEISMIC ANALYSIS CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES	31
9.	SEISMIC HARDENING CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES	36
	Qualitative Seismic Hardening Procedures Quantitative Seismic Hardening Procedures	36 37
10.	RISK ASSESSMENT	38
	Design and Construction Phase	38

## CONTENTS (Continued)

		Page
	Operational Phase Decommissioned Phase	39 39
11.	PROPOSED SEISHIC AND STATIC DESIGN PHILOSOPHY	41
12.	CONCLUSIONS	44
13.	RECOMMENDATIONS	45 45 48
14.	REFERENCES	49

## TABLES

1	Existing NRC Regulatory Guides That May Be Applicable		
	Equipment of a Repository	16	
2	Seismic Damage Modes	22	
3	A Proposed Seismic and Static Multistage Design Philosophy for Underground Structures	42 *	

## FIGURES

1	Relationship Between the Design Process and Seismic Design Criteria for Underground Structures	3
2	Cutaway of a Repository	6
3	Rock Bolt System	11
4	Steel Set System	13
5	A Suggested Rigorous Seismic Analysis	33

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Technical direction for URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers (URS/ Blume), was provided by Sandia Laboratories (Sandia), Albuquerque, New Mexico. Extensive contributions were made by John A. Blume, Arthur R. Carriveau, Humberto Contreras, Marc J. McGovern, and Roger E. Skjei of URS/Blume. Barbara Lee of URS/Blume edited the report and coordinated its publication.

#### SUMMARY

The U.S. Department of Energy, Nevada Operations Office, is currently directing a program to determine whether a nuclear waste storage repository can be established at the Nevada Test Site. A part of this effort requires the development of appropriate seismic design criteria. These criteria, which are intended to be generic in nature and applicable to any site, will provide standards and guides for an engineering design that will mitigate the effects of earthquake shaking and underground nuclear explosions.

This report summarizes the considerations for developing seismic design criteria for repositories as of September 1979. Its purpose is to determine what research is necessary to develop acceptable seismic design criteria.

#### Repository Design Concept

A conceptual design was assumed for a prototype waste repository that would be adaptable to a variety of sites with different geologic conditions. The facility consists of a large number of excavated storage rooms and interconnecting tunnels located two or more thousand feet below the ground surface. Receiving and handling facilities for canisters that contain waste or spent fuel are located on the surface. Vertical shafts connect the surfacereceiving facilities to the underground facility, where the waste canisters are delivered to a transporter vehicle that moves the canisters to their final storage location. There, the canisters are emplaced into holes in the floor or walls of the underground storage rooms. The holes are then backfilled and plugged for radiation shielding.

#### Typical Support Systems for Underground Excavations

It was assumed that two types of rock support systems may be used in a repository: (1) rock bolt system and (2) steel set system. A rock bolt system is preferred on the basis of cost and design considerations. A steel set system is useful in poorer rocks that require heavy support. From the point of view of engineering design and cost, it is preferable to excavate a repository in ground that requires minimal reinforcement and support. Current underground support system philosophy is to use support systems that make maximum use of the inherent strength of the rock mass itself.

### Existing Design Criteria: Seismic Standards and Guides

. . . . .

Existing seismic standards and guides used for the design of licensed nuclear facilities were reviewed to determine if they could be used for the design of repositories. A number of these guides are possibly applicable to the seismic design of the surface structures and equipment of a repository, although some may have to be modified and rewritten. None of the standards and guides used for the design of licensed nuclear facilities are applicable to the underground structures of a repository, however.

Because static and seismic design criteria do not exist for the underground structures of a repository, it was necessary to examine the standard practices followed in the design of other types of underground structures. Standard practices followed in the static design of various underground structures are available and provide a starting point for developing specific static design criteria for the underground structures of a repository. However, very little attention has been given in the past to the seismic design of rock excavations, and thus standard practices do not provide a starting point for developing specific seismic design criteria. Consequently, additional research is needed to prepare the necessary seismic design criteria for the underground structures of a repository.

#### Seismic Damage Modes and Performance Criteria

An initial step in the development of seismic design criteria for the underground structures of a repository is the development of performance criteria -- the minimum standards of acceptable behavior. These criteria would be based on the possible damage modes to which the structures are susceptible under seismic motion. A review of the earthquake literature on the behavior of tunnels indicates that tunnels are safer than surface structures during strong seismic motion; however, some cases of severe damage, including collapse, have been reported.

A list was made of some possible damage modes and their possible consequences. One of the most important possible consequences due to a seismic event is increased permeability of the rock surrounding the repository. Changes in permeability may be hazardous to repository personnel if these changes lead to flooding of the tunnels. If they occur after the repository is decommis-

- viii -

sioned (underground shafts and tunnels backfilled and sealed), these changes might compromise the geologic isolation of nuclear waste by accelerating the transport of radioactive material to the biosphere. Additional research is needed to determine whether or not seismic motion might alter the permeability of the rock mass for various candidate host rocks. Furthermore, a determination is needed concerning whether such seismically induced changes will have long-term negative effects on the geological barriers or will simply be shortterm perturbations. If long-term negative effects are predicted, they cannot be mitigated through design; they can only be avoided through proper siting. Apart from the possibility of increased permeability, there are no other foreseeable damage modes that would perturb the long-term function of the repository.

Other possible damage modes include rock falls, spalling, rock fracturing, and equipment damage. The consequences of these possible damage modes may create hazards to personnel while the repository is operational (while waste is being placed in the repository).

Because of the preliminary nature of this study of seismic design criteria, the list of damage modes may not be complete. Further research may reveal additional damage modes that need to be mitigated with appropriate design.

#### Ground Motion Criteria for Underground Structures

Subsequent steps in formulating acceptable seismic design criteria for the underground structures involve the quantification of the design process. At present, underground structures are designed using empirical methods. For purposes of licensing, however, the structures will likely be designed on the basis of stresses determined by analysis.

There are three commonly used methods for specifying ground motion for seismic analysis: the peak ground motion parameters, the response spectrum, and the time history. Neither peak ground motion parameters nor response spectra are appropriate for determining stresses within a rock mass. Although simplified methods using peak ground motion parameters may be used to estimate the seismic stresses within a rock mass, they do not address the matter of secondary wave reflection and refraction effects at a cavity. The most

- ix - ·

complete, or ideal, ground motion specification for use in the analysis of underground structures would be a three-component time history that includes the superposition of various types of seismic waves.

To characterize the ground motion for an inderground repository by a threecomponent time history, it is necessary first to develop a three-component time history at the ground surface. It is not possible to determine a subsurface time history directly from a surface response spectrum. A reasonably reliable prediction of a surface time history can be achieved by defining a control response spectrum for the ground surface at the location of interest. The ground motion at a point below the ground surface can be obtained from the surface time history using analysis with appropriate assumptions about the nature of the seismic waves and the material properties of the rock mass. This assumes the existence of an appropriate analytic technique that can account for spatial variations and the presence of a cavity. Current analytic techniques address only ideal conditions free from nonhomogeneities and discontinuities. More developmental work is needed in this area.

Ultimately, to verify the analytical results, regardless of the type of specification, it would be advantageous to obtain additional instrumental data at the surface and at depth from strong-motion earthquakes.

#### Rock Property and Failure Criteria

Dynamic elastic moduli, Poisson's ratios, rock densities, and damping values are rock properties needed for seismic analysis. These properties would have to be determined experimentally for the candidate rock masses. The accuracy and limitations of the results of the tests used should be determined, and acceptable procedures for obtaining the dynamic rock properties for use in seismic analysis should be defined.

Failure\* criteria quantitatively define stress states that are damaging to the rock mass (around an opening). Damage to the rock mass is assumed to

- X -

<sup>\*</sup>The word *failure* as it is used here refers only to an engineering definition of damage; it does not refer to failure of the primary function of the repository to contain the nuclear waste.

occur when the sum of computed static and seismic stresses exceeds the failure criteria. Because a rock mass is composed of intact rock separated by discontinuities such as joints, criteria are needed to define damaging states of stress in intact rock and rock discontinuities. Two-dimensional criteria are available, but three-dimensional criteria may be needed for more refined stress analysis.

#### Seismic Analysis Criteria for Underground Structures

Seismic and static analyses are the key to a quantitative design process. In the general engineering practice, stresses due to static loads and stresses due to seismic loads are computed separately. These stresses are then combined for comparison with the failure criteria, which may be in the form of maximum allowable stresses, ultimate strength, or failure envelopes. Finally, design decisions are made on the results of the comparisons.

Although several methods are available for the static analysis of underground structures, few methods are available for seismic analysis. To lend confidence to design decisions based upon geological engineering experience, a more rigorous seismic analysis is needed for evaluating the underground structures of a nuclear waste repository. Ideally, the seismic analysis of stresses around an underground opening should be computed using a three-component time history and accounting for dilational, shear, and surface waves.

A rigorous method of analyzing three-component motion anywhere in a horizontally layered medium might be formulated from the motion at a point on the free surface by employing the Haskell-Thomson method, steady-state methods, and Fourier synthesis. Eventually it would be desirable to include nonhorizontal rock discontinuities. As idealized models are developed, verification studies will be required to evaluate the differences between the idealized model and the real geologic situation.

Simple procedures based on the one-dimensional wave equation have been used to calculate dynamic stresses underground. These simple procedures often utilize only peak motion parameters, ignoring other motion parameters that may be important. Furthermore, these procedures do not account for the presence of the cavity or for all possible types of wave motion. However, the

- xi -

attractiveness of these procedures lies in their simplicity for engineering analysis and design. The applicability and limitations of the simple analytic procedures need to be evaluated.

#### Seismic Hardening Criteria for Underground Structures

The need for seismic hardening of underground structures is determined by comparing the combined static and seismic stresses, as well as other system perturbations such as temperature, with the failure criteria and evaluating the results. The support system for the underground opening will have to be modified if the evaluation indicates a need for additional protection. At this time, procedures for hardening are understood qualitatively; however, to achieve a licensable repository design, quantitative measures for scaling the level of hardening from the stress level (or some other appropriate indicator) will probably be required.

incremental increases in the hardening are needed to correspond to incremental increases in stress level (of the peak acceleration level or some other indicator) in order to satisfy the failure criteria. For example, a quantified hardening procedure should indicate the point on a scale of increasing stress level that rock bolts are required around the full circumferential area of the opening rather than from springline to springline. The development of such a procedure may depend more on the principles of geological engineering than on the principles of mechanics.

#### Risk Assessment

Engineering design implies choice from among alternatives. To choose the most desirable design from among the available alternatives, it is useful to evaluate and compare the total risk from each different design. Seismic activity is one of many disturbances that must be considered in the total risk assessment for a design, and may by itself be an important contributor to total risk.

Because geologic explorations do not provide a complete description of the geology and rock mass properties, the design parameters can be taken as random variables. With the appropriate distribution functions, design can be approached from a probabilistic point of view that can take local unpredictable variations into account. An important advantage of this probabil-

- xii -

istic approach is that the design could conceivably be licensed for a range of variable ground and support conditions.

The occurrence of an earthquake simultaneously with the transport of waste through the repository could create a hazardous condition. Fault trees could be utilized to predict the probability of failure, and mitigating procedures could be developed to reduce risk.

Geologic events, such as earthquakes, play a part in risk assessment of the decommissioned facility. Engineered facilities could reduce the total risk by increasing the probability of the repository's integrity during approximately the first thousand years of the decommissioned lifetime.

#### Proposed Seismic and Static Design Philosophy

Extensive calculations for stresses around a waste repository will probably be required in order to ensure confidence in the integrity of the natural and engineered barriers between the nuclear waste and the biosphere following a seismic event. Computational models should be employed to investigate overstressing and to determine the optimum configuration and support of openings. Unfortunately, models that accurately represent local underground conditions are not possible until the opening has been excavated. This may present a problem for licensing a nuclear waste repository because licensing usually means approval of a complete design before construction may begin. However, for an underground opening, the design for support and configuration is not completed until construction is completed. A viable approach to solving this predicament is to adopt a multistage design philosophy in which design, licensing, and construction can be flexibly interwoven.

The multistage seismic and static design philosophy for underground structures presented in this report addresses design only after the site has been selected. Assuming that the selected site will be located within a relatively stable tectonic region and away from active faults, the seismic disturbance would be ground shaking at a relatively low intensity. The basic assumption implicit in this philosophy is that each stage of design would include considerations of loads, rock properties, failure criteria, analysis, support and reinforcement details, and reevaluation of stability. Therefore, each stage of design would use improved engineering geologic data that would yield more detailed analyses and designs than the previous stage. Because the multistage design philosophy allows uncertainties about geology and rock properties to be overcome to some extent with each succeeding exploration, stress calculations in the advanced design stages should be closer to the real stresses inasmuch as they will be based upon more complete data.

#### Conclusions and Recommendations

The function of seismic design criteria is to reduce the potential for hazards that may arise during various stages of the repository life. During the operational phase, the major concern is with the effects of earthquakes on surface facilities, underground facilities, and equipment, which might create hazards to operating personnel and, in certain circumstances, to the public. Qualitative assessments of the effects of earthquakes on underground structures can be made from reports of past performance and from current empirical procedures. However, quantitative assessments are preferable. Unfortunately, quantitative assessments are not possible for underground structures with the current technology. During the decommissioned phase, the major concern is with the potential effects of earthquakes on the geologic formation, which may result in a reduction in isolation capacity.

Specific recommendations for developing quantitative seismic design criteria are presented at the conclusion of this report.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

The U.S. Department of Energy, Nevada Operations Office (DOE-NV), is currently directing a research and development program to determine whether a nuclear waste storage repository in a deep geologic medium can be established at the Nevada Test Site (NTS).<sup>1</sup> A part of this effort requires the development of seismic design criteria that would be acceptable for a repository at NTS. These criteria, which are intended to be generic in nature and applicable to any site, will provide standards and guides for an engineering design that will mitigate the effects of earthquake shaking and underground nuclear explosions (UNEs).

This report completes the first phase of work in presenting a structural engineering view of the envisioned needs for repository seismic design criteria. The work represents about nine man-months of engineering effort and was carried out concurrently with other efforts under *Subtask 1.3, Facility Hardening Studies*,<sup>2</sup> of the NTS Nuclear Waste Storage investigations. The report was preceded by a design cost scoping studies report<sup>2</sup> that presented a preliminary estimate of the added costs required to harden various structures of a repository at NTS to withstand ground motion caused by earthquakes and UNEs.

#### Seismic Design Criteria

For this report, criteria are defined as standards and guides on which an engineering design may be based. Seismic design criteria are part of the total design criteria for an engineering project.

A repository is made up of surface structures, equipment, and underground structures. The surface structures and equipment of a repository are similar to the surface structures and equipment of licensed nuclear facilities. Therefore, some of the standards and guides -- the criteria -- used for the seismic design of licensed nuclear facilities are applicable to the seismic design of the surface structures and equipment of a repository. Underground structures, however, have never been licensed, and there are no existing standards and guides on which to base a design. Thus, this report is directed

- 1 -

mainly toward the development of selsmic design criteria for the underground structures of a repository.

In the current practice, the design of underground structures, unlike that of surface structures, is often modified during construction because variations in the properties of the rock are not completely known before excavation. This complicates the relationship between static and seismic design criteria, the design, the construction, and the licensing of the structures because one of the principal premises of licensing is that the design process would be quantified; that is, the structures would be designed on the basis of stresses determined by analysis. Thus, although underground structures are designed using empirical methods at present, analytical methods may have to be incorporated into the design process for underground structures that are to be licensed.

The relationship between the design process and the seismic design criteria for underground structures that are to be licensed is presented schematically in Figure 1. The design process is illustrated on the left side of the figure, and the five components of the seismic design criteria are illustrated on the right side. The seismic design criteria provide guidelines for establishing performance criteria, defining loads and ground motion, establishing rock property and failure criteria, analyzing structural behavior, selecting the support and reinforcement system, comparing component behavior with failure criteria, and construction (steps 3 through 9, respectively). Construction is included as part of the design process because it is assumed from current mining practice that design modifications would be carried out during construction. It is also assumed that the design will be based on stresses in the rock determined by analysis (and in-situ tests).

#### Objectives

This report summarizes the considerations for developing seismic design criteria as of September 1979. The three major objectives of the report are (1) to identify those aspects of seismic design of repositories that do not require further developmental work, (2) to identify those aspects of the seismic design criteria that require developmental work and research, and (3) to outline other tasks that should be addressed in the future to achieve economic and practicable solutions to the repository engineering design problem.

- 2 -



FIGURE 1 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE DESIGN PROCESS AND SEISMIC DESIGN CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

. س

#### Scope

The detailed scope of the work originally conceived for seismic design criteria studies<sup>3</sup> was somewhat altered as the work progressed; the emphasis of the report was redefined within the context of the evolving work. The final scope of the work includes the following:

- Identifying applicable repository configurations for adaptation to candidate sites at NTS (Chapter 2)
- Identifying support systems for underground excavations (Chapter 3)
- Reviewing existing nuclear industry standards and guides and identifying those that are applicable to repositories (Chapter 4)
- Reviewing possible seismic damage modes to repository structures (with emphasis on the underground structures) and recommending the performance criteria to which the structures would be designed (Chapter 5)
- Identifying the ground motion specification needed for seismic analysis of underground structures (Chapter 6)
- Identifying the rock\* property and failure criteria needed for seismic analysis of underground structures (Chapter 7)
- Identifying the appropriate and needed analytical procedures for seismic analysis of underground structures (Chapter 8)
- Identifying the seismic hardening criteria for underground structures (Chapter 9)
- Defining risk assessment for repositories (Chapter 10)
- Proposing a seismic and static design philosophy for underground structures (Chapter 11)
- Stating the conclusions of the study of seismic design criteria (Chapter 12)
- Making recommendations for additional studies that are needed for the preparation of seismic design criteria (Chapter 13)

- 4 -

<sup>\*</sup>The use of the word "rock" in this report is intended to include various host media, such as granite, shale, tuff, basalt, and salt.

#### 2. DESCRIPTION OF THE STRUCTURAL SYSTEM OF A REPOSITORY

A repository is designed to receive and store radioactive high-level waste (HLW) products. At the initiation of work on the seismic design criteria, the configuration and details of repository structures were not available. Thus, it was necessary to assume a configuration that would be representative of a typical repository adaptable to a variety of sites with different geologic conditions.

Several proposed repository concepts were reviewed, including bedded sait waste isolation facilities,<sup>4,5,6,7</sup> retrievable surface storage facilities,<sup>8</sup> a spent unreprocessed fuel facility,<sup>9</sup> and other deep geologic waste isolation facilities in sait, shale, basalt, and granite.<sup>10,11,12,13,14</sup> For deep repositories, References 5, 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 present the most detailed configurations for both the surface structures and the underground structures.

Figure 2<sup>14</sup> shows a conceptual design of a repository. The facility consists of a large number of excavated storage rooms and interconnecting tunnels located two or more thousand feet below the ground surface. Receiving and handling facilities for canisters that contain waste or spent fuel are located on the surface. Vertical shafts connect the surface-receiving facilities to the underground facility, where the waste canisters are delivered to a transporter vehicle that moves the canisters to their final storage location. There, the canisters are emplaced into holes in the floor or walls of the underground storage rooms. The holes are then backfilled and plugged for radiation shielding. If spent fuel is delivered to the plant, it is assumed for this study that the canisters that contain it will be dealt with in the same way as reprocessed HLW.<sup>15</sup>

The extent of the land area required for particular repositories may vary depending on such conditions as the local geology. Surface facilities may occupy from 100 to 200 acres and are the only visible evidence of the repository.



FIGURE 2 CUTAWAY OF A REPOSITORY



DOCUMENT	D.C. NO.	DATE	· CLASS	EMPL	PROJ	COPY CONTROL	
IDENT.	1105	· · · ·				COPY NO.	REMARKS
REPORT NO. /	AND/OR TITLE: (U	NCL.)	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,				<u></u>
							6
			•				
AUTHOR:		·	•				
RECEIVED FR	SOUI	SOURCE:				DISPOSITION	
DATE REC'D	HOW REC'D	REGISTR	Y/CERT, NO	<b>).</b>	NO. OF PAGES		
RECIPIENT:		I	DATE	l			· .
<del></del>							



#### Surface Structures

Several surface structures are required for the operation of a repository. The structures are needed for the handling of waste, for administrative purposes, and for housing various equipment systems such as emergency power, hoists, water pumps, and filters for mine exhausts. The structures whose continual functioning or integrity is essential for the safe containment of waste material normally require seismic hardening beyond the requirements of local building codes. The remaining structures do not require such additional hardening.

It is expected that the critical structures will be reinforced concrete, shear wall structures.<sup>2</sup> The noncritical structures may be reinforced concrete. steel, or masonry structures.

#### Underground Structures

The underground structures include all the corridors (tunnels) and storage rooms at the underground level of the repository and the shafts that connect the surface structures to the underground level.

Several vertical shafts are required for the operation of a repository. The shafts are necessary for the conveyance of construction and waste materials and personnel to and from the underground level. In addition, ventilation shafts may be needed. The shafts will differ in size, design, usage, and functional constraints. The diameter of the shafts may range from 10 to 30 feet.

The underground facility (the HLW storage level) may encompass an area of several hundred acres.<sup>10,11,12,13</sup> The facility is made up of storage rooms (tunnels) that are interconnected by various access, transport, and ventilation tunnels. All these tunnels may be arranged in a rectilinear grid pattern; however, that pattern is not a requirement. The tunnels may have different cross sections, but it is expected that they will be approximately 20 feet across. The cross section of the tunnel will be designed to conform to the requirements and state of stress of the local geology. A small number of other rooms and staging areas are also located in the underground facility.

- 7 -

#### Equipment Systems

Several equipment systems are required for the operation of a repository. The most critical include the holst system for the transport of HLW from the surface to the underground level, the ventilation system for the underground level, the emergency power system, the waste handling systems at the surface and at the underground level, the electrical control system, and, if required, the underground dewatering system.

Most of these equipment systems will be mounted on the floors of the structures and, because of their light weight, can be treated as appendages to the structures for the purposes of seismic analysis and design.

#### Classification of Structures and Equipment

Some of the repository structures and equipment house or process and control HLW. Therefore, for the purposes of licensing, it will be necessary to classify the structures, components, and systems selected in the design according to the importance of the safety function they perform and the seismic considerations.

The following is an example of a seismic safety classification system that can be adapted to repositories. These categories are not to be confused with other nuclear industry categories that cover a variety of design accidents that cannot occur in a repository. Structures, systems, and components are classified into one of three categories, according to their relative importance to safety. Categories I and II cover safety-related equipment, and Category III covers all nonsafety-related equipment. Safety-related equipment includes that required for protecting the health and safety of the public as well as equipment essential to the safety of plant personnel. It is recommended that the definitions for Category I and Category II equipment clearly separate equipment that is necessary to protect the health and safety of the public from equipment that is provided solely for the protection of onsite personnel. The definitions would read:

> <u>Category 1:</u> Those structures, systems, and components whose failure could lead to offsite release of excessive amounts of radioactivity and those structures,

systems, and components that are essential for the safe shutdown of waste handling operations without endangering the public health and safety during or following an accident or severe natural phenomenon.

<u>Category 11</u>: Those structures, systems, and components that are not included in Category 1 but that are essential for the safety of plant personnel in the event of an accident or severe natural phenomenon.

<u>Category III:</u> Those structures, systems, and components that are not included in Category I or Category II.

Only Category 1 systems should be required to retain their functional safety capability following a design earthquake. The remaining equipment, however, may have to meet the seismic requirements of the local building codes.

#### 3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SUPPORT SYSTEMS FOR UNDERGROUND EXCAVATIONS

Very few underground structures have been built in rock that did not require some support. Several types of support systems are used to stabilize underground excavations. State-of-the-art rock reinforcement and support system design take maximum advantage of the natural strength of the host rock. This is accomplished by causing minimum disturbance to the rock mass during excavation and by using, whenever possible, systems that enhance the load-carrying ability of the rock adjacent to the opening. The two support systems that are expected to be used most frequently in the design of underground repositories are:

- Rock bolt system
- Steel set system

Either system may also be used for the shafts.

#### Rock Bolt System

A rock bolt reinforcement system (see Figure 3) would effectively stabilize a tunnel or shaft driven in a hard, jointed rock. In tunnels, rock bolt systems are used to develop the jointed. fractured rock into a load-carrying arch. The torque applied to the rock bolts when they are installed creates a zone of compression in the rock mass between the bolts.<sup>16</sup> The compression increases the strength of the rock in this zone, thereby forming a structural arch. In addition, the radial thrust applied to the rock by the bolts greatly increases the strength of the rock mass beyond the ends of the bolts by decreasing principal stress differences, though the thrust is small compared with the field stresses.<sup>17</sup> Rock bolts are frequently grouted after tensioning along part or all of their length to bond the rock to the bolt: thus, if the bolt anchorage or bearing plate fails, the tension in the bolt (the compression in the rock) is not lost. The grout also protects the bolt from corrosion by groundwater. The spacing and length of the bolts is based on the rock fracture frequency and on the span of the opening. The relationship between fracture frequency, opening span, and rock bolt spacing and length is known largely from experience.





Wire mesh and shotcrete, individually or in combination, are often used with the rock bolts in highly jointed rock. Wire mesh is stretched tightly on the surface of the excavation between the bolts and is kept as close to the rock face as possible. It prevents spalling and raveling of the jointed rock between the rock bolts. Shotcrete is frequently applied to the rock surface to enhance the load-carrying ability of the rock arch by locking together blocks of rock in the roof and walls of the tunnel. Shotcrete also helps retain the natural moisture content of the rock surface, thus preventing deterioration of the rock properties. Wire mesh in combination with shotcrete provides tension reinforcement at the bottom of the developed rock arch.

#### Steel Set System

×.

Steel sets (see Figure 4) are used for stabilization in poor ground that is not reinforceable. For instance, steel sets in conjunction with spiling\* can be used to stabilize tunnels driven in shale behaving as squeezing ground.\*\* Lagging may be required to span the distance between the sets. In sections of heavy squeeze, occasional reblocking and relagging of the sets may be necessary. The vertical shafts in squeezing ground can also be supported with steel sets.

Steel sets provide passive support: they become loaded as the rock around the excavation deforms. Therefore, they are placed as soon as possible after the excavation and should be carefully backpacked. In the preliminary design of steel sets, the stresses in the sets can be analyzed by traditional empirical methods, but the loads acting on the sets can only be estimated. These estimates can be improved during construction from observations, from deformation and stress measurements, and by using more refined analysis as additional information becomes available.

<sup>\*</sup>Spiles are steel bars installed in bore holes drilled from the top of the tunnel face at an angle ahead of and above the advancing tunnel face. They improve the stand-up time (the time between excavation and rock failout of the roof) by a combined beam and cantilever action.

<sup>\*\*</sup>Clays tend to squeeze into underground openings whenever they are not supported. Therefore, some clay shales and decomposed metamorphic and igneous rock with clay characteristics are referred to as squeezing rock or squeezing ground.



## FIGURE 4 STEEL SET SYSTEM

#### 4. EXISTING DESIGN CRITERIA: SEISMIC STANDARDS AND GUIDES

A review of the existing seismic standards and guides used for the design of nuclear facilities provides a context for discussing needed seismic design criteria for repositories.\*

Numerous standards exist for the seismic design of nuclear facilities. These standards can be divided into two categories. Regulatory standards include those regulations that are obligatory for licensed nuclear facility design. Regulatory guides include codes and guides that delineate recommended practices but are not obligatory. For clarity, we shall use "standards" to describe mandatory requirements, and "guides" to refer to codes and guides that are recommended but not mandatory. Some of these guides, while not mandatory in the sense that alternative approaches are acceptable if they can be justified, are in fact mandatory because no alternative approaches have yet been accepted.

Licensed spent fuel storage installations historically have been integral parts of fuel reprocessing plants and nuclear power plants. Such plants have been licensed under standards 10 CFR Parts 30, 40, 70, and 100 in addition to 10 CFR Part 50.<sup>18</sup> Because of their association with licensed facilities, the spent fuel installations have been designed under a variety of existing U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) guides.

A number of guides that have been used for licensed nuclear facilities are possibly applicable to the seismic design of the surface structures and equipment of repositories. For example, the surface structures that are important to safety may be designed according to guides that have been used for licensed surface structures in nuclear facilities; some of the equipment that is important to safety in a repository also may be designed to meet the requirements of existing guides. Although the surface structures and equipment of a repository are similar to the surface structures and equipment of other nuclear facilities (fuel reprocessing plants, nuclear power

- 14 -

<sup>\*</sup>it should be noted that some important loads, such as thermal, that will have a significant impact on the criteria are not discussed.

plants, independent spent fuel storage installations, plutonium processing and fuel fabrication plants, uranium enrichment facilities, etc.), there are important differences in function and design. Therefore, some of the existing guides may have to be modified and rewritten to reflect these differences.

None of the standards and guides that have been used for licensed nuclear facilities are directly applicable to the underground structures of repositories. The NRC is proposing a new 10 CFR Part  $60^{19}$  to deal with licensing HLW repositories in geologic formations; however, the proposed standards were not available in time for review in this report.

#### Surface Structures and Equipment

As discussed above, the design of conventional structures in existing nuclear facilities is accomplished under a number of standards and guides, some of which can be directly applied to the seismic design of the surface structures and equipment of a repository. There are no foreseeable difficulties or unknowns in formulating static and seismic design criteria for the surface structures and the equipment of a repository on the basis of these documents. The fundamental question that needs to be resolved is what degree of protection should be afforded to these structures as compared with the various nuclear facilities in use today.

Seismic design criteria for equipment are normally written separately from static criteria for licensed facilities. It will be preferable to retain this practice for repositories.

Repositories will contain some equipment that is not found in other licensed nuclear facilities. In particular the hoist systems and the ventilation system between the surface and the underground structures will probably require the development of seismic (and static) design criteria. In addition, depending on the licensing requirements, the primary features of existing designs may need to be modified to provide increased safety and redundancy.

Table 1 lists the more important existing NRC regulatory guides that may be applicable to the seismic design of the surface structures and equipment of a repository. Other guides are published by a number of organizations,

- 15 -

## TABLE 1

## EXISTING NRC REGULATORY GUIDES THAT MAY BE APPLICABLE TO THE SEISMIC DESIGN OF THE SURFACE STRUCTURES AND EQUIPMENT OF A REPOSITORY

Number	Title
1.12	Instrumentation for Earthquakes
1.13	Spent Fuel Storage Facility Jesign Basis
1.29	Seismic Design Classification
1.48*	Design Limits and Loading Combinations for Seismic Category I
1.60	Design Response Spectra for Seismic Design of Nuclear Fower Plants
1.61	Damping Values for Seismic Design of Nuclear Power Plants
1.70	Standard Format and Content of Safety Analysis Reports for Nuclear Power Plants
1.92	Combining Modal Responses and Spatial Components in Seismic Response Analysis
1.100*	Seismic Qualification of Electric Equipment for Nuclear Power Plants
1.122	Development of Floor Design Response Spectra for Seismic Design of Floor-Supported Equipment or Components
1.132	Site Investigations for Foundations of Nuclear Power Plants
1.137*	Fuel-Oil Systems for Standby Diesel Generators
1.138	Laboratory Investigations of Soils for Engineering Analysis and Design of Ruclear Power Plants
1.140*	Design, Testing, and Maintenance Criteria for Normal Ventilation Exhaust System Air Filtration and Absorption Units of Light-Water- Cooled Nuclear Power Plants
1.142	Safety-Related Concrete Structures for Nuclear Power Plants (Other Than Reactor Vessels and Containments)
1.143	Design Guidance for Radioactive Waste Management Systems, Struc- tures, and Components Installed in Light-Water-Cooled Nuclear Power Plants
3.14	Seismic Design Classifications for Plutonium Processing and Fuel Fabrication Plants
3.17	Earthquake Instrumentation for Fuel Reprocessing Plants
3.24	Guidance on the License Application, Siting, Design, and Plant Protection for an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation
3.26	Standard Format and Content of Safety Analysis Reports for Fuel Reprocessing Plants
3.39	Standard Format and Content of License Applications for Plutonium Processing and Fuel Fabrication Plants
	RRC Standard Review Plan (SRP)

\*Relates to equipment only.

including the American National Standards Institute, American Concrete Institute, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, American Society for Testing and Materials, American Institute of Steel Construction, and American Society of Civil Engineers. Some of these guides may also be applicable; however, they require further review.

#### Underground Structures

<u>Static Design Criteria</u>. Static design is always an essential component of the overall design process. Although standards and guides do not exist for the static design of the underground structures of repositories, the standard practices used in the engineering design of other types of underground structures are available. These standard practices provide a starting point for developing specific static design criteria for repositories.

Underground structures are currently designed by empirical methods based on past experience and, to a lesser degree, on analysis and test results. Engineering geologic exploration of the site provides data on rock types, discontinuities and jointing patterns, water regime, rock engineering properties, and in-situ stresses. This information enables the designer to select the best orientations, sizes, and shapes for the openings and to determine what support system is required. Usually, this exploratory information does not cover all eventualities that are encountered during excavation. The actual rock conditions generally cannot be fully determined until the rock has been excavated.

Rock quality and deformation behavior are typically observed as the excavation proceeds. To achieve a stable opening, designs must often be modified during construction to account for variations in ground conditions. After excavation is completed, checks of the cavern stability continue with instrumental measurements and visual observations. Opening shape and support are sometimes modified at this time to ensure long-term stability. Only after the cavern has been stabilized can the design be considered final.

The determination of rock loads, the calculation of stresses, and the design of support systems depend upon the type of support employed. The Terzaghi Method<sup>20</sup> for the design of steel sets estimates rock load according to rock

- 17 -

condition and size of opening. Stresses are not calculated in the rock but only in the steel set. For a rock bolt system, it is the current practice to base the initial selection of rock bolt size and spacing on geologic exploration and empirical rules and not on stress calculations.

At present, calculations of the static stresses around underground openings play a limited role in design. In practice, the rock stresses are not usually calculated for tunnels. Rock stresses are often calculated for large openings (e.g., power plant caverns), but their main function is to serve as indicators of rock behavior and problems.

in summary, standard practice for static design of tunnels and other excavations in rock needs to be developed into acceptable design criteria. Various components of the current practice should be evaluated for their applicability to repository design.

<u>Seismic Design Criteria</u>. Very little attention has been given in the past to the seismic design of rock excavations. Consequently, current standard practice does not provide a starting point for developing quantitatively rigorous seismic design criteria.

Various reports indicate that natural and man-made openings generally experience either no damage or only minor rock falls during seismic events.<sup>21,22,23</sup> For this reason, designers usually ignore seismic ground motion in the design process for tunnels, caverns, and other underground openings. However, occasional severe damage to tunnels has been reported<sup>22,23</sup> (usually due to a combination of severe ground motion and poor rock or marginal support). Therefore, seismic ground motion cannot be ignored for critical underground projects such as petroleum reservoirs, underground nuclear power plants, and waste repositories. Yamahara et al.<sup>24</sup> address the safety of a rock cavern for petroleum storage, using a finite-element model to calculate stresses. URS/Blume<sup>2</sup> and Campbell and Dodd<sup>25</sup> have used simple, conservative calculations for seismic stresses in the rock to evaluate the safety of the openings. Dodds et al.<sup>26</sup> discuss the seismic criteria for mined rock caverns in a conceptual design of an underground nuclear power plant, indicating areas that require future study. Additional information on seismic design criteria for large underground structures is being obtained under a National Science Foundation Research grant to URS/Blume.<sup>27</sup>

Experiments with conventional and nuclear explosives have yielded some useful data. Engineering Research Associates<sup>28</sup> and Hendron<sup>29</sup> provide some damage limit criteria obtained from experiments with conventional explosives. Experience in hardening tunnels at NTS against UNEs<sup>30</sup> indicates that effective procedures for hardening include lengthening of rock bolts, grouting rock bolts along their full length, and reinforcing rock bolts with shotcrete and wire mesh.

Although the information gained through these various investigations is useful, it does not provide a sufficient basis for developing seismic design criteria for underground structures. Furthermore, it is difficult to pattern acceptable seismic design criteria for underground structures after existing criteria for surface structures because of two important differences in the design of surface and underground structures. First, the design of conventional surface structures, unlike that of underground structures, is based upon the availability of a variety of construction materials (concrete, steel, steel alloys, aluminum) that can be provided with fairly consistent values for material properties. Second, analytical theories used in the design of surface structures are sophisticated and thoroughly verified by experiments, whereas those used in the design of underground structures are not.

<u>Summary</u>. The codification of the seismic and static design of underground structures presents a new problem. Although some existing regulatory guides are applicable to the surface structures of nuclear waste repositories, the necessary seismic design criteria for the underground structures need to be developed. Much of this development work is generic in nature and can be applicable to all repository locations; however, some aspects of this work will be site-specific and would have to be addressed individually for different kinds of host media.
## 5. SEISMIC DAMAGE MODES AND PERFORMANCE CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

Seismic design criteria are written to provide an engineered system that satisfies the predetermined performance criteria -- the minimum standards of acceptable behavior. To establish performance criteria for the underground structures of a repository, it is necessary to consider the effects of the different damage modes to which the structures are susceptible under seismic motion.

The effects of different damage modes on the ability of a repository to isolate radioactive waste vary during the lifetime of the repository. The repository lifetime can be divided into three phases:

- Design and Construction Phase Construction of surface facilities and excavation of shafts and initial storage rooms; no hazardous material is present.
- 2. Operational Phase Hazardous material is handled in the surface structures and transported through the shafts and tunnels to the storage rooms; additional storage rooms are excavated as needed.
- 3. Decommissioned Phase Shafts have been backfilled and sealed; storage rooms and tunnels have also been backfilled.

Seismic damage to the repository during the first two phases is an engineering design concern because it can be mitigated with state-of-the-art engineering design and construction methods. Phase 3, the decommissioned phase, primarily involves long-term isolation of nuclear waste, which is assured through site selection; engineering design, however, may be useful in impeding radionuclide paths to the biosphere.

#### Seismic Damage Modes

Seismic loads are known to have caused a variety of problems in underground openings that were not designed to resist seismic motion. On occasion, tunnels have been severely damaged during earthquakes.<sup>22,23</sup> Thus, it can be assumed that seismic motion may result in damage to underground repository structures. Of course, damage attributed to a seismic disturbance is really

- 20 -

due to the addition of seismic stresses to preexisting stresses resulting from in-situ conditions, alteration of the static stress field by the opening, and thermal loads generated by nuclear waste.

Table 2 lists some possible seismic damage modes and their possible consequences during the operational and the decommissioned phases of a repository lifetime. The design and construction phase is not included in the table because no hazardous material is present and public safety is not threatened.

As shown in the table, one of the most important possible consequences due to a seismic event is increased permeability of the rock surrounding the repository.\* Changes in permeability can be hazardous to personnel during the operational phase because they can lead to flooding of the tunnels. During the decommissioned phase, these changes can compromise the geologic isolation of nuclear waste and thus may threaten public safety. It is important to note that, apart from the possibility of increased permeability, there are no other foreseeable earthquake effects that would perturb the long-term function of the repository.

Changes in the hydrologic flow regime have been observed following seismic events; for example, earthquakes have caused wells to dry up, springs to increase or decrease their flow rates, and alterations of groundwater flow in mines. Research recently conducted by Zoback and Byerlee<sup>31,32</sup> in the field of earthquake prediction supports these observations. Their studies indicate that permeability increases during dilatancy and that dilatancy can occur after many cycles of compressive stress. Because they used high tectonic stresses (in the kbar range), which are much greater than seismic stresses, their research has limited meaning for possible changes in permeability due to earthquakes. However, their research gives credence to the suggestion that the cyclic stressing of an earthquake may cause changes in the microcracks and the joint system, resulting in increased permeability.

<sup>\*</sup>The concern here is not with local changes in permeability around the tunnels. Possible increases in permeability around each tunnel due to the interaction of the tunnel and the earthquake waves should not affect the ability of the entire host medium to act as a barrier.

# TABLE 2 SEISMIC DAMAGE MODES

Damage Mode	Possible Consequence During Operational Phase	Possible Consequence During Decommissioned Phase
Underground Structures		
Rock Fall (extent depends on seismic loading, rock quality, and support)	Injure personnel Block transportation Block ventilation Disrupt water management Damage canister Damage shaft wall	
Rock Slabbing (bursting)	Same as for rock fall	•
Existing Rock Fractures and Seams Open, Rock Blocks Shift	Increase permeability increase water inflow Weaken rock structure	Increase permeability speed up transport of radioactive waste to the biosphere
Cracking of Waterproofing Liners in Shafts (if used)	Increase permeability increase water inflow	
Spalling of Shotcrete or Other Surfacing Material	Lead to rock fall if extensive	
Unraveling of Rock-Bolted Systems	Same as for rock fall	
Steel Set Collapse	Same as for rock fall	
Equipment		
Failure of Hoist Systems	Drop canister Injure personnel Canister sticking in shaft	
Damage to Ventilation Machinery	Accumulation of gases Heat build-up Preclude personnel access	

In addition to increased permeability, there are many other possible consequences due to a seismic event occurring during the operational phase. These consequences could create a hazard to operating personnel or a disruption to the repository operations. However, it is not clear that any of the damage modes would lead to a hazard to the public health during the operational phase.

Because of the preliminary nature of this study of seismic design criteria, the list of damage modes presented in Table 2 may not be complete. Further research may reveal additional damage modes that need to be mitigated with appropriate design. Historical tunnel and shaft responses to seismic and underground nuclear explosion loads might be investigated and the responses and any possible damage could be evaluated. For example, numerous old mines, some several thousand years old, are located in active seismic areas (Middle East, Egypt, Turkey, Germany, Italy, China, etc.); these might provide data concerning the effects of seismic loads -- specifically increases in permeability.

Additional research is also needed to determine whether or not seismic motion might alter the permeability of the rock mass for various candidate host rocks. Furthermore, a determination is needed on whether such seismically induced changes will have long-term negative effects on the geological barriers or will simply be short-term perturbations.

#### Performance Criteria

At present, the performance criteria for the surface structures and all equipment do not appear to present unusual problems, although these criteria need to be written. Many unanswered questions exist for performance criteria of the underground structures, however. What is the allowable size of a rock fall or a rock burst? Under what circumstances are tunnel closures allowable? Is cracking of the shaft lining permissible; if it is, what is the allowable crack width and fluid flow rate through the cracked surface, etc.?

One performance criterion is self-evident: no rock fall should be permitted in the shafts during the design and construction or operational phases. Even

- 23 -

a small rock falling a great distance poses a serious threat to personnel safety. A larger rock could do considerable damage to the shaft wall and equipment. This criterion can probably be satisfied by application of wire mesh and/or shotcrete to the shaft walls. Of course, the primary performance requirement of the repository, regardless of time period, is that radioactive material remain separated from the biosphere.

The performance criteria will have a direct influence on the cost of a repository. It has been found that the construction costs of the underground structures of the repository will be sensitive to the assumed performance criteria.<sup>2</sup> More stringent criteria can cause significant increases in the capital and operating costs of the repository.

## 6. GROUND MOTION CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

Ground motion criteria usually include (1) the specification of the form of ground motion that is to be used in seismic design and (2) the manner in which this ground motion is to be determined. The second item is discussed only briefly and is outside the scope of the present report; the following discussion primarily covers the specification of the form of ground motion that could be used in the seismic analysis and design of repository structures.

Procedures are required to determine appropriate values for ground motion at the specific repository depth. The literature on the relationship between earthquake motion and its intensity at depth below the free surface indicates that, in general, motion attenuates with depth.<sup>33,34,35</sup> There are situations, however, in which instrumental and observational motions underground have been found to be as strong as (and sometimes stronger than) those on the surface.<sup>21,33</sup> Such findings are an indication of the general complexity of this phenomenon. The seismic motion at a particular depth consists of the superposition of the several body and surface waves. The motion at that point will reflect whatever seismic energy is present: body waves traveling directly from a seismic source, body waves reflecting off the Moho or other high-impedance contrast surface, body waves reflecting from the free surface or from some other interface below the surface, or surface waves. No simple statement can be made to describe the effect of depth upon seismic motion.

Few computer programs are available for the computation of motion at depth. The FLUSH<sup>36</sup> program treats the problem assuming only vertically propagating shear or compression waves and is, therefore, greatly limited in its ability to represent the complexities of underground motion. Furthermore, it is probably inappropriate to use FLUSH for repository depths because the program was intended for near-surface applications. Banister et al.<sup>37</sup> developed a program to study the stresses and strains due to the reflection of seismic body waves from the ground surface in a homogeneous medium. Nair and Emery<sup>38</sup> considered both surface and inclined shear waves in a linear, homogeneous, horizontally stratified soil structure. There are three commonly used methods for specifying ground motion for design: the peak ground motion parameters, the response spectrum, and the time history. Estimated peak amplitudes of ground motion parameters (acceleration, velocity, or displacement) have been used in simplified design procedures and for some analytic evaluations of response effects of underground structures. There are circumstances in which this simplified characterization can be of considerable value -- for example, when major uncertainties exist in the procedures for obtaining more complex characterizations. Regulatory agencies have been specifying ground motions for the design of nuclear facilities by means of the response spectrum, primarily because response spectra can be generalized and are also more amenable to prediction than time histories. In addition, the response spectrum provides information concerning the amplitudes of the various frequency components in the spectral band of interest. Ground motion has also been specified in the form of three-component time histories, which may be artifically generated synthetic accelerograms or earthquake records from various sites. Synthetic time histories may be generated from random number sequences or selected power spectral density functions and are modified by appropriate filtering and shaping.

There are limitations to all three specification methods. Peak amplitudes of ground motion provide the least information about the design ground motion. Frequency content, duration, and periodicity are not included, nor is it known when the peak value occurs during the ground motion. A major limitation of response spectra is that they contain only frequency and amplitude information. Because this information alone is not sufficient for many design requirements (e.g., nonlinear analysis), time histories are frequently matched to the specified response spectrum and used for analysis. However, several different ground motion time histories can produce similar response spectra. If the design process requires a single time history, additional controls may be required to identify the one that is most suitable.

Of the three specification methods, time histories are the desirable ground motion specifications because they contain all the important ground motion parameters -- peak amplitudes, frequency content, duration, and periodicity. However, accurate prediction of time histories is beyond the current state

- 26 -

of the art. When a synthetic accelerogram is used, the random motion may be an inappropriate description of the real phenomenon because the physical process involved in the ground motion may not have been correctly incorporated. When recorded time histories are desired and none exist at the site, it is difficult to establish the precise time history for that site. Response spectra, on the other hand, can be predicted with some assurance, given reasonable estimates of the location and nature of the seismic event and the geologic environment of the site. For this reason, regulatory agencies have specified response spectra for nuclear facilities, with provisions for developing a corresponding time history. As noted above, there is no unique time history for a given spectrum; consequently, other controls must also be applied to achieve the time history that is best suited to the circumstances.

In all of these specification methods, there is a problem with the relationship between the components of the motion. Most specifications require that (1) the two horizontal components be of equal strength and (2) the vertical component be equal to or a fraction of the horizontal components. The actual correlation between components would require decomposition of seismograms into the various individual seismic waves. To date no researcher has been able to do this successfully. The problem may not be tractable because there are too many independent parameters.

It is not clear at this time which specified ground motion will provide the optimum procedures. Simplified methods using peak ground motion parameters may be used to obtain upper bounds on the seismic stresses within a rock mass; however, they do not address the matter of secondary wave reflection and refraction effects at a cavity. Although these bounds will lack detailed information about the geology and the wave motion, they may be useful in making conservative engineering evaluations of stability during seismic activity. The peak ground motion methods do not estimate the stresses in the near vicinity of a tunnel (i.e., within a distance of approximately one tunnel diameter from the tunnel wall) and are probably valid only for wavelengths longer than the tunnel diameter. Research is needed to determine the applicability and limitations of simplified techniques. Before these simplified procedures can be accepted, extensive verification using experimental data or a more general theory with a three-component time history is required.

- 27 -

Response spectra are not appropriate for determining stresses within a rock mass. They would be useful for the design of equipment attached to the walls of the underground excavations, however. Response spectra would also be useful for estimating the peak ground motion parameters: in particular, peak ground acceleration and displacement can be reliably established from correctly calculated response spectra.

The most complete, or ideal, seismic motion characterization for use in underground structure analysis would be a three-component time history of motion that includes the superposition of various types of waves. The ground motion at a point below the ground surface can be obtained from the surface time history using analysis with appropriate assumptions about the nature of the seismic waves and the material properties of the rock mass. This assumes the existence of an appropriate analytic technique that can account for spatial variations and the presence of a cavity. Current analytic techniques address only ideal conditions free from nonhomogeneities and discontinuities.<sup>27</sup> More developmental work is needed in this area, as discussed further in Chapter 8.

To characterize the ground motion for an underground repository by a threecomponent time history, it is necessary to first develop a three-component time history at the ground surface. The present view is that to achieve a reasonably reliable prediction of a surface time history, the most workable procedure would be to define a control response spectrum for the ground surface at the location of interest. Such procedures are already well defined for nuclear facilities. The spectra could be similar to those specified by NRC Regulatory Guide 1.60;<sup>39</sup> the selected (or synthesized) time history would contain the frequency and power spectral densities of a suite of time histories in similar regimes. It would then be possible, assuming the existence of appropriate analytic techniques, to obtain a matching plausible time history for the subsurface location. It is not possible to determine a subsurface time history directly from a surface response spectrum.

Ultimately, to verify the analytical results regardless of specification, it would be advantageous to obtain additional instrumental data at the surface and at depth from strong-motion earthquakes.

- 28 -

#### 7. ROCK PROPERTY AND FAILURE CRITERIA

The material properties of the rock mass are needed (1) for calculating stresses and strains around underground openings and (2) for formulating failure criteria.

#### Dynamic Rock Property Criteria

Dynamic rock mass properties are needed for use in linear elastic seismic stress analysis (as discussed in Chapter 8). The dynamic elastic moduli, Poisson's ratios, rock densities, and damping values would need to be determined experimentally for the candidate rock masses. The spatial variation of these properties would also need to be determined.

The dynamic elastic moduli, Poisson's ratios, and rock densities can be determined by field and laboratory tests. The accuracy and limitations of the results of these tests need to be determined. Acceptable procedures for obtaining the dynamic rock properties for use in seismic analysis need to be defined.

#### Failure Criteria

Failure criteria quantitatively define stress states that are damaging to the rock mass (around an opening). The computed static and seismic stresses are summed and compared with the failure criteria; damage to the rock mass is assumed to occur when the failure criteria are exceeded. Failure criteria are needed to define damaging states of compressive, shear, and tension stress in intact rock and along rock discontinuities because a rock mass is composed of intact rock separated by discontinuities such as joints.

Failure in this context refers only to the engineering definition of damage to rock; it in no way refers to the total loss of the primary function of the repository. Thus, even if the stresses in the rock exceed the failure criteria, this does not mean that the repository barriers have been breached.

Two-dimensional failure criteria are currently used in engineering rock mechanics practice to evaluate static stresses for their potential to damage

- 29 -

rock masses. The Coulomb criteria and the Modified Griffith criteria are useful two-dimensional formulations that can be used in practical situations.<sup>17</sup> The formulation of these criteria requires testing of rock specimens in the laboratory or field to determine the basic parameters, such as unconfined compressive strength, tensile strength, and friction angles. More precise two-dimensional criteria of rock damage can be determined by empirically fitting a curve to a number of test results. The cap model,<sup>40</sup> which represents failure as well as other important characteristics of geologic materials, and joint slip models<sup>41,42</sup> should be considered.

A three-dimensional failure criterion may be needed in the advanced design levels in conjunction with more refined stress analyses. The Von Mises criteria and Murrell's extension of the Griffith criteria are three-dimensional failure criteria that have been used to study rock damage, although they do not fit the experimental results particularly well.<sup>17</sup> More sophisticated failure criteria may have to be developed by a combination of laboratory experimentation and analysis of the actual mechanisms of rock behavior under stress. In addition, the effect of the intermediate principal stress on rock behavior and the effects of stress gradients, size of specimen, and long-term temperature increases on test results are still largely unknown and may require further study to develop more sophisticated failure criteria.

In conclusion, failure criteria that would be acceptable for licensing underground structures need to be defined. The testing procedures and the theories needed to formulate the failure criteria also need to be defined.

### 8. SEISMIC ANALYSIS CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

Seismic and static analyses are the key to a quantitative design process. in the general engineering practice, stresses due to static loads and stresses due to seismic loads are computed separately. These stresses are then combined for comparison with the failure criteria, which may be in the form of maximum allowable stresses, ultimate strength, or failure envelopes. Finally, design decisions are made from the results of the comparisons.

There are several available methods for the static analysis of underground structures. Of these methods, finite-element programs using gravity loading seem to be the most useful. Not only do they compute the stresses throughout the structure, but any structure of arbitrary shape can be modeled.<sup>43</sup> With the choice of the appropriate computer program, three-dimensional problems can be treated as easily as two-dimensional problems. SAP IV,<sup>44</sup> for example, is a widely available code that can perform this function for linear elastic materials. BMINES is a three-dimensional computer code developed to analyze mining problems, including those involving slip joints and rock boits.<sup>45,46</sup> Rock discontinuities in finite-element models for static analysis are discussed by Goodman et al.<sup>47</sup> and Roberds and Einstein.<sup>41</sup>

Seismic analysis is considerably more involved than static analysis because of the variation in ground motion below the ground surface. Few computer programs are available for underground seismic analysis. The FLUSH<sup>36</sup> program could be used to investigate near-surface openings for vertically propagating shear or compression waves; however, the program was intended only for analyzing the interaction between surface structures and the soil mass. The use of FLUSH to model any other situation (such as underground structures) is not advised. Its use for structures at repository depths would be both costly and inappropriate. Other finite-element models have been used to determine the stresses around underground near-surface structures loaded by vertically propagating shear waves. 24,48,49 General finite-element codes for analyzing dynamic problems, such as SAP IV,<sup>44</sup> could be applied to deep underground structures, accepting the restrictions on material properties within the program and ignoring reflections of seismic waves from the free ground surface. The inclusion of the ground in a finite-element model would require a very large mesh, which would be costly to run.

- 31 -

The development of a more rigorous seismic analysis is needed for evaluating the stability of the underground structures of a nuclear waste repository. The stability of underground openings during seismic events that occur in the operational phase and the changes in permeability that may result from seismic events occurring in the decommissioned phase should be investigated.\* Analytical evaluations, based upon rigorous seismic analysis, will lend confidence to design decisions founded upon geological engineering experience.

An analytical method that uses three components of motion and accounts for dilational, shear, and surface waves would be a desirable development. It would also be desirable to develop an analytical method that includes nonhorizontal discontinuities with variable seam properties. A schematic of such a rigorous seismic analysis is shown in Figure 5.

Steady-state wave mechanics and Fourier synthesis may facilitate the development of rigorous seismic analysis procedures. At present, these analytic techniques permit an investigation of seismic stresses around an underground opening within an idealized geology of isotropic, homogeneous layers. Assuming that the model is excited by plane waves, the motion anywhere in a horizontally layered medium can be formulated from the motion at a point on the free surface using a variation of the Haskell-Thomson method.<sup>50</sup> This provides an easily programmable algorithm for the evaluation of transfer functions in the frequency domain between arbitrary points in the layered medium. Steady-state methods in wave mechanics provide a powerful tool for the reduction of complicated temporal convolutions to algebraic multiplications or divisions of Fourier transforms and frequency-dependent transfer functions. Fourier transforms of ground motions are easily evaluated using the Fast Fourier transform algorithm. Thus, arbitrary motions can be taken into account by Fourier synthesis. The inclusion of an underground structure in a horizontally layered medium can be handled using steady-state analysis and Fourier synthesis. The diffraction caused by an underground structure can be formulated for harmonic motion using integral equation techniques outlined by Mow and Pao.<sup>51</sup> These techniques require the use of Green's function for a layered medium. In general, Green's functions for harmonic waves are

<sup>\*</sup>Although potential instabilities can be mitigated through design, possible deleterious effects of earthquakes on the rock-mass permeability during the decommissioned phase can only be avoided through proper siting.



FIGURE 5 A SUGGESTED RIGOROUS SEISMIC ANALYSIS

expressed in terms of complex integrals. Until recently, only Green's functions for the simplest sources were known or available. However, in recent years there has been much interest in this area of engineering seismology. Many of these needed Green's functions are now becoming available and are in more widespread use.

The procedures outlined above are being used in a study by URS/Blume under a National Science Foundation grant.<sup>27</sup> Currently only a single component of motion, represented by horizontally polarized shear waves of arbitrary angle of incidence, is used in the investigation of stresses around a cylindrical cavity in an elastic half-space.<sup>52</sup> The next steps in development would be to include dilational waves, vertically polarized shear waves, and surface waves.

As idealized models are developed, verification studies will be required to determine the effects of the disparities between the idealized model and the real geologic situation. Nonhomogeneities of the actual ground may have a significant effect on tunnel stability. For example, it is well known that the size of the rock block important for static stabilization considerations varies according to the size of the tunnel. The aspects of nonhomogeneity important to seismic analysis are not yet known. It may be that certain types of joints will have no effect on seismic stresses, while others will have a significant effect. In addition, some joint systems may behave differently under high and low values of seismic stress.

The methods of analysis outlined herein are linearly elastic. Although strong motion leads to nonlinear material behavior, it is generally prudent to solve the elastic problem where no other solutions are available. There are many reasons for the use of this approach. Currently there are no economically feasible alternatives for evaluating the three-dimensional dynamic responses with other methods. In addition, because the elasto-dynamic problem is already so cumbersome, some years of experience with it will be necessary. Also many subtleties in the response of underground structures may become better understood as a result of work on the linear elastic approach and will explain the observations of tunnel responses to earthquakes. Moreover, the strains or stresses predicted in an elastic analysis of seismic waves are small compared with the rock strength This leads to some accepta-

- 34 -

bility for the linear approach. Finally, linear analysis can always provide a starting point for more complex nonlinear methods.

Ì

The comment above regarding the small, calculated values for seismic stress should not be construed to mean that seismic waves will not lead to damage of the rock mass around an opening. The presence of the excavation will alter in-situ stresses, increasing compressive stresses in some zones and creating tensile stresses in other zones. The superposition of seismic stresses on this altered static state of stress may cause damage because some rocks (such as some shales) have relatively low compressive strength and most rocks are weak in tension.

Simple procedures based on the one-dimensional wave equation are also being used to calculate dynamic stresses underground.<sup>2,25,49,53</sup> These procedures are believed to provide a conservative estimate of the actual stresses, although this has not been verified. The simple procedures often utilize only peak motion parameters, ignoring other motion parameters that may be important. Furthermore, these procedures do not account for the presence of the cavity or for all possible types of wave motion. The attractiveness of these procedures lies in their simplicity for engineering analysis and design. The applicability and limitations of the simple analytic procedures need to be evaluated, however. Analytic methods using three-component time histories, as described above, could be used for this purpose.

In summary, a rigorous seismic analysis is desirable for evaluating the underground structures of a nuclear waste repository because it lends confidence to design decisions that are based upon geological engineering experience. Ideally the seismic analysis should involve three components of motion and a realistic description of motion and geologic parameters. Development of such procedures with some limitations on modeling motion and geology are within current capabilities. Although these rigorous procedures may prove to be inadequate for analyzing the more real nonhomogeneous geologic media, they can be used to explore the development of simple analytic procedures.

# 9. SEISMIC HARDENING CRITERIA FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

The need for seismic hardening of underground structures is determined by comparing the combined static and seismic stresses with failure criteria and evaluating the results. The support system for the underground opening will have to be modified if the evaluation indicates a need for additional protection. At this time, procedures for hardening are understood qualitatively. In order to achieve a licensable repository design, quantitative measures for scaling the level of hardening from the stress level (or some other appropriate indicator) will probably be required.

#### Qualitative Seismic Hardening Procedures

Qualitative seismic hardening recommendations were made as part of the site investigations for possible construction of a nuclear waste repository.<sup>2,54</sup> The dynamic responses of steel sets and rock bolts were evaluated by reviewing the reported experience from tunnels exposed to dynamic loads and by qualitatively considering the interaction between supports and surrounding rock. The following design concepts were established:<sup>54</sup>

- It is not advantageous to harden these two systems in terms of stiffening them. An approach of maintaining flexibility is the better one. The incremental effort associated with dynamic loads should be focused on the quality of the details of the support and reinforcement systems selected for static loads and on the prevention of possible spalling or popping of rock blocks. In principle, a carefully executed, flexible stabilization system is preferable to a relatively stiff system of stabilization. Hence, attention is given to improving construction details to achieve a more coherent medium-tunnel system.
- 2. Consider first the steel support system selected for the tunnels in shale. Inherently, this system carries a substantial reserve, or resilience. Both the assessment of static load and the assessment of the capacity of the system, derived from the squeezingground load condition, are rather conservative. A steel set seldom fails because the ultimate strength of a given, continuous member of the steel set is exhausted. Rather, it is the failure of connections between the different parts of the set, or a situation of unbalanced loading, that results in the fail-

ure of the set. Consequently, the incremental support requires greater attention to construction detail and workmanship than normally would be required if only the static loads were considered. It is better to weld rather than simply to bolt together the different pieces of a steel set in order to establish continuity. Steel srts should be securely tied together in the longitudinal direction.

It is imperative that the ground and the support be continuously coupled under dynamic loads. Thus, continuous blocking is much preferable to spot blocking. This can be attained by using continuous shotcrete blocking of the steel set and, if needed, backpacked lagging or reinforced shotcrete between the sets.

3. Similar considerations are applicable for the rock reinforcement systems selected for the tuff and the granite. Rock bolt details are improved by grouting the full length of the bolt. It is necessary to increase the amount of rock reinforcement by bringing it around the full circumferential area of the opening rather than from springline to springline, as dictated by static conditions. The spalling of rock blocks between the fully grouted bolts can be prevented by the use of reinforced shotcrete.

The attention given to the details of the support systems in tunnels subject to strong ground motion must also be applied to the details of the support systems in vertical shafts. If a concrete lining is considered necessary for groundwater control, it will require special consideration. Some cracking may occur, and extra steel reinforcement might be required. Where the reinforced concrete collar connects to a lining, stress concentrations and hammering action between the two are to be avoided. Future studies should address the dynamic problems associated with the shaft collars.

#### Quantitative Seismic Hardening Procedures

\* \* 1 \*

> A method for quantifying hardening procedures is required. Incremental increases in the hardening are needed to correspond to incremental increases in stress level (or the peak acceleration level or some other indicator) in order to satisfy the failure criteria. For example, a quantified hardening procedure should indicate at what point on a scale of increasing stress level rock bolts are required around the full circumferential area of the opening rather than from springline to springline. The development of such a procedure may depend more upon the principles of geological engineering than upon the principles of mechanics.

> > - 37 -

Design of engineered systems implies choice from among alternatives. To choose the most desirable design from among the available alternatives, it is useful to evaluate and compare the total risk for each different design. Total risk is the composite of the probability of the occurrence of events that lead to failure of the system and the consequences of each failure in terms of dollar and life losses.

In geologic isolation of nuclear waste, events that may lead to failure of the system can be caused by internal and external disturbances.<sup>55</sup> Examples of internal disturbances include radiation, temperature, aging, human intervention (through design), chemicals, and movement; examples of external disturbances include seismicity, tectonics, hydrology, erosion, glaciers, meteorites, volcanism, time, and human activity (nuclear warfare, sabotage, mining, storage, waste recovery, population centers, reservoirs, irrigation, and new technology). Seismic activity is thus one of many disturbances that must be considered in the total risk assessment for a design, and may by itself be an important contributor to total risk.

Risk assessment can be used to establish repository reliability and to facilitate more expedient and more practicable repository design. The following sections discuss risk assessment during the three phases in the life of a nuclear waste repository.

#### Design and Construction Phase

Geologic exploration of the site provides data that enable the designer to select the best orientations, sizes, and shapes for the openings and to determine what support is required. As this exploratory information does not cover all eventualities encountered during excavation, the parameters needed for design can be taken as random variables; that is, necessary design parameters would be identified in terms of expected values and variability. With the appropriate distribution functions assigned to these parameters, it is possible to approach design from a probabilistic point of view that takes into account the local variations. Performance criteria of the engineered surface and underground systems can be based on acceptable levels of total

- 38 -

risk. An important advantage of this probabilistic approach is that the design could conceivably be licensed for a range of ground and support conditions. Available mathematical models<sup>56</sup> can be used for this type of design approach.

Experience, experimental data, and theoretical knowledge can be employed to define the needed probability functions. As the excavation proceeds, experimental measurements and observations of the actual rock conditions can be used to determine if the construction is within the range of initial design standards.

#### Operational Phase

Because hazardous materials are handled during the operational phase, the risks are different from those of the construction or decommissioned phases. The structures and the machines that handle hazardous materials interact and complicate risk assessment.

To evaluate the risk for the operational phase, a logical structure based on fault trees would be useful. Risks associated with the different damage modes can be computed independently with such a representation.<sup>57</sup>

The occurrence of an earthquake simultaneously with transport of waste through the repository could create a hazardous situation. The paths to failure of containment and the consequences of such failure have to be carefully studied. The probability of simultaneous occurrence of an earthquake and waste movement is low, but the total risk involved should be computed and compared with the other accepted risks. Mitigation procedures could evolve from this type of study.

#### Decommissioned Phase

The decommissioned phase may be a large contributor to total risk because the radioactive materials in the repository must remain in geologic isolation until they decay, which may, depending on the type of waste, take several thousands to several hundreds of thousands of years. During this long time span, geologic events have a high probability of occurring and thus play a role in the risk assessment of the decommissioned facility. Earthquakes occur more frequently than other geologic events, and it is considered highly probable that a severe earthquake will occur during the first thousand years of the decommissioned phase. Repository reliability during this time period is therefore important to geologic isolation of nuclear waste.

it would be desirable to increase the probability of the repository's integrity, particularly during the first thousand years of the decommissioned phase. Engineering of containers and shaft plugs could achieve added reliability of the repository during this important time period, thereby reducing the total risk.

# 11. PROPOSED SEISHIC AND STATIC DESIGN PHILOSOPHY

, , <sup>\*</sup>\*

þ

Extensive calculations for stresses around a waste repository will probably be required in order to ensure confidence in the integrity of the natural and engineered barriers between the nuclear waste and the biosphere following a seismic event. Seismic stresses when added to existing static and thermal stress may create excessive stresses around tunnels and shafts. If such excessive stresses were to occur during the operational phase, increased rock permeability, canister damage, or ventilation disruption could result; excessive stresses could cause only increased rock permeability if they were to occur during the decommissioned phase. Computational models should be employed to investigate overstressing and to determine the need for redesign of configuration and support of openings.

Unfortunately, models that accurately represent local underground conditions are not possible until the opening has been excavated. This may present a problem for licensing a nuclear waste repository. Usually licensing means approval of a complete design before construction may begin. However, for an underground opening, the design for support and configuration is not completed until construction is completed. This situation could conceivably lead to a very costly design process in which variable conditions of local rock and geology must be extensively analyzed in order to anticipate all probable underground conditions for the site. Alternatively, very conservative tunnel support systems could be selected. This would permit licensing to proceed, but it would also be expensive. Conditions other than those anticipated are likely to be encountered somewhere during the excavation of an underground system involving several hundred miles of tunnels. Redesign and relicensing, and possibly even work stoppages, would be inevitable. A viable approach to solving this predicament is to adopt a multistage design philosophy in which design, licensing, and construction can be flexibly interwoven.

A proposed multistage seismic and static design philosophy for underground structures is presented in Table 3. It addresses design only after the site has been selected. Assuming that the selected site will be located within a relatively stable tectonic region and away from active faults, the seismic disturbance would be ground shaking at a relatively low intensity. The

- 41 -

# TABLE 3

# A PROPOSED SEISMIC AND STATIC MULTISTAGE DESIGN PHILOSOPHY FOR UNDERGROUND STRUCTURES

	Stage	Description		
First Stage	Exploration	The given site is explored to obtain preliminary engineering geologic and rock mechanics data.		
	Design	This is a seismic, static, and thermal design based on preliminary data. It is used to evaluate performance and cost.		
		This design stage includes defining ground motion, static and thermal loads, establishing rock properties and failure criteria, analyzing under- ground structures, detailing of support, and comparing predicted behavior with failure criteria.		
		Support and reinforcement requirements are specified in a variable form on the basis of some probabilistic distribution (see Chapter 10).		
Second Stage	Exploration	Exploratory shaft(s) and drift(s) are made to obtain further details on geologic structure and rock mechanics properties.		
	Design	This is a more detailed seismic, static, and thermal design based on im- proved data. This design stage includes the same considerations as the first design stage, except that it uses a better data base.		
		Support and reinforcement requirements are specified in a variable form on the basis of appropriate probabilistic distributions (see Chapter 10).		
Third Stage	Construction and Design	Construction constitutes the final exploration, yielding further data on geologic structures and rock mechanics properties.		
		During construction, behavior of the opening is observed and analyzed to evaluate static stability. Support and reinforcement are modified, if required, using observations and geologic engineering principles.		
		After construction and completion of static stabilization, the existing rock and support system are analyzed for combined seismic and static loads. Support and reinforcement may be modified, if required.		
		The final design is evaluated for quality control on the basis of proba- bilistic concepts (see Chapter 10).		

42 -

basic assumption implicit in this table is that each stage of design would include considerations of loads, rock properties, failure criteria, analysis, support and reinforcement details, and reevaluation of stability. Therefore, each stage of design would use improved engineering geologic data that would facilitate more detailed analyses and designs than the previous stage.

The first stage of design would be based on the engineering geologic and rock mechanics data obtained from the preliminary exploration. This exploration program would include geologic mapping, coring, and geophysical surveys. The second stage of design would be based on more complete data gathered during the second exploration, which would involve excavating exploratory shafts and drifts to obtain further details on the actual geologic structure and rock mechanics properties. Finally, construction constitutes the final exploration, yielding further data for the third stage of design; the design would be modified as needed during construction to meet the actual conditions. After completion of static stabilization of the underground openings, the existing medium and rock support or reinforcement system would be analyzed to evaluate stability and safety for combined static, seismic, thermal, and other loads. The support or reinforcement could be modified at this time, if required.

Because the multistage design philosophy allows uncertainties about geology and rock properties to be overcome to some extent with each succeeding exploration, stress calculations in the advanced design stages should be closer to the real stresses inasmuch as they will be based upon more complete data.\*

It should be noted that probabilistic concepts are included in Table 3 as part of the various design stages. Probabilistic design may be advisable for underground excavations because the material (rock mass) varies from point to point. It is included in the proposed multistage design philosophy to suggest that it be given serious consideration.

<sup>\*</sup>increased emphasis on the calculation of stresses does not eliminate the role of geological engineering in obtaining stable openings. Because of the complex and highly variable structure of most rock masses, design decisions must always be guided by the principles of geological engineering.

#### 12. CONCLUSIONS

Several important conclusions have been drawn during the course of this study. These conclusions relate to two of the three phases of a repository lifetime: the operational phase and the decommissioned phase.

During the operational phase, the major concern is with the effects of earthquakes on the near-field systems, namely, surface facilities, underground structures, and operating equipment. Seismic damage to these systems may create hazards to the operating personnel and, in some circumstances (e.g., failure of the hoist system, which could result in the fall and rupture of a canister), may raise concerns about public safety. It is the function of seismic design criteria to reduce the potential for such hazards during the operational phase.

Although design criteria can be qualitative, common practice is to quantitatively specify criteria. This requires procedures for the quantitative prediction of earthquake effects. With reference to tunnel stability, experts in earthquake engineering are able to make qualitative assessments based upon reports of past performance and current empirical procedures. However, quantitative predictions of tunnel stability are not possible with the current technology.

During the decommissioned phase, the major concern is with the far-field effects of earthquakes, that is, potential effects on the geologic formation that may result in a loss of isolation capability. This concern should focus on determining whether or not seismic events (possibly in conjunction with the thermal loads) can produce long-term changes in the permeability of the rock mass.

#### 13. RECOMMENDATIONS

The considerations presented in the previous eleven chapters indicate that some additional work is needed to develop quantitative design criteria for inuclear waste repositories.

Seismic design criteria guide the design of repository structures and equipment so that these systems remain functional and containment is not jeopardized during and following a seismic event. Therefore, the criteria most directly address the operational phase when engineered systems must ensure both operational safety and containment. In the long-term lifetime of the decommissioned repository, permanent isolation of radioactive waste from the biosphere by the host medium is primarily ensured by site selection criteria and little by engineering design criteria. Engineering for seismic events during this final phase is limited mainly to effective plugging of shafts to prevent direct water paths to the surface and proper tunnel configuration to avoid increased permeability following seismic events. Thus, although there are a few recommendations for the decommissioned phase, most of the recommendations are directed toward guaranteeing containment and operational safety during the operational phase of the repository.

For purposes of organization, the recommendations for the operational phase and for the decommissioned phase are grouped under major headings corresponding to the principal chapter headings.

#### Recommendations for the Operational Phase

Existing Design Criteria: Seismic Standards and Guides. It is recommended that existing seismic standards and guides applicable to the surface structures and equipment of the repository be rewritten. This task requires relatively simple modifications to standards and guides already used for other types of nuclear facilities.

In addition, the necessary guides for the seismic design of the underground structures should be prepared. To accomplish this task, some additional research is needed, as indicated below. <u>Seismic Damage Modes and Performance Criteria</u>. The following three recommendations are made with regard to seismic damage modes and performance criteria:

, . . · ·

- Conduct Investigations of historical tunnel and shaft responses under earthquake and underground nuclear explosion motions to evaluate possible damage modes.
- Evaluate the significance of seismic damage modes under all important load combinations, and establish performance criteria for structures and equipment under seismic loads based on these evaluations.
- Develop guidelines for determining the effects of excavation methods on seismic performance.
- Identify the mechanisms and conditions that might lead to the collapse of underground openings or to the increased permeability of the rock mass following a seismic event.

<u>Ground Motion Criteria</u>. It would be desirable to collect strong motion data at underground and corresponding surface sites. These data would be useful in verifying analytical results on the effects of depth and cavity on underground motion. The collection of data might involve the continued recording of downhole ground motions during underground nuclear explosions (such as Subtask 1.2 Seismic Investigations; Weapons Test Ground Motion Measurements of the Nevada Test Site Terminal Waste Storage Program) and the placement of monitoring instruments in deep underground structures and boreholes in regions of high seismicity.

It would also be desirable to conduct analytical and experimental research to determine the effects of depth on underground seismic motion. The feasibility of simplified techniques to obtain subsurface motions from surface motions should be determined.

<u>Rock Property and Failure Criteria</u>. Failure criteria to define the damaging states of compressive, shear, and tension stress in intact and jointed rock should be developed. In addition, the need for more sophisticated failure criteria than are currently available should be investigated; the possible development of a three-dimensional failure criteria should be given special attention. <u>Seismic Analysis Criteria</u>. The following three recommendations are made with regard to seismic analysis criteria:

- Develop and write computer codes for the static, thermal, and seismic analyses of underground structures. The optimum development would be a code to compute stresses around an opening using three components of motion. Evaluate applicability of existing codes in performing these functions.
- Determine the applicability and limitations of simplified techniques for predicting the response of underground openings. Analytic models using threecomponent time histories might be used to explore the feasibility of simple procedures.
- Conduct verification studies as analytical model and analyses techniques are developed so as to determine the effects of the disparities between the idealized analyses and the actual geologic situations and experiences.

<u>Seismic Hardening Criteria</u>. Guidelines for quantifying the type and degree of hardening required for a given seismic load level should be developed. For example, incremental increases in hardening corresponding to incremental increases in stress level could be defined.

<u>Risk Assessment</u>. The risk from earthquakes should be evaluated in relation to all other significant hazards for the operational phase.

<u>Proposed Seismic and Static Design Philosophy</u>. Because the current state of the art in static underground design cannot achieve a final design for the underground openings until the excavation itself is completed, the usual licensing approach of requiring a completed design prior to construction must be modified. Thus, a design philosophy is proposed employing two or more design stages, each stage using improved engineering geologic data and yielding more detailed analyses and designs than the previous stage. The alternative appears to be a costly initial design and licensing process, which would attempt to cover all eventualities, and inevitable redesign and relicensing. This multistaged design needs to be further evaluated for its feasibility. In addition, the use of probabilistic methods in the design of underground structures should be considered; this implies that seismic analyses would have to include parameter variability.

# Recommendations for the Decommissioned Phase

<u>Seismic Damage Modes and Performance Criteria</u>. Analytical and experimental research should be conducted to determine if seismic motion can result in long-term changes in the permeability of the rock mass for various candidate host rocks.

<u>Risk Assessment</u>. The risk from earthquakes in relation to all other significant risks for the decommissioned phase of the repository should be evaluated. In particular, the impact of various engineered barriers in comparison with geological barriers on the risk assessment should be evaluated.

## 14. REFERENCES

- 1. U.S. Department of Energy, Nevada Operations Office, NTS Terminal Waste Storage, Program Plan for FY 1978, Las Vegas, Nevada, March 1978.
- 2. URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, Nevada Test Site Terminal Waste Storage Program, Subtask 1.3: Facility Eardening Studies; Design Cost Scoping Studies, San Francisco, California, April 1978.
- 3. Personal communication from R. E. Skjei, URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, San Francisco, California, to P. N. Haistead, U.S. Department of Energy, Nevada Operations Office, Las Vegas, Nevada, October 5, 1977.
- 4. Office of Waste Isolation, Waste Isolation Facility Description --Bedded Salt, Report No. Y-OWI/SUB-76/16506 to the U.S. Energy Research and Development Administration, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, September 1976.
- 5. Sandia Laboratories, WIPP Conceptual Design Report, Report No. SAND77-0274 to U.S. Energy Research and Development Administration, Albuquerque, New Mexico, June 1977.
- Weart, W. D., "New Mexico Waste Isolation Pilot Plant, A Status Report," Proceedings of the Symposium on Waste Management, Tucson, Arizona, October 1976.
- 7. Rippon, S., "Prospects Look Good for Gorleben Center," Nuclear News, Vol. 21, No. 2, 1978.
- Atlantic Richfield Hanford Company and Kaiser Engineers, Retrievable Surface Storage Facility Alternative Concepts Engineering Studies, Report No. ARH-2888 REV to the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Richland, Washington, July 1974.
- 9. Rockwell International, Atomics International Division, Spent Unreprocessed Fuel Facility Engineering Studies, Draft Report No. RHO-LD-2 to the U.S. Energy Research and Development Administration, Rockwell Hanford Operations, Richland, Washington, October 1977.
- Office of Waste Isolation, Technical Support for GEIS: Radioactive Waste Isolation in Geologic Formations, Y/OWI/TM-36/8, Vol. 8, "Repository Preconceptual Design Studies: Salt," prepared by Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas, Inc., April 1978.
- Office of Waste Isolation, Technical Support for GEIS: Radioactive Waste Isolation in Geologic Formations, Y/OWI/TM-36/10, Vol. 10, "Repository Preconceptual Design Studies: Granite," prepared by Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas, Inc., San Francisco, California, April 1978.
- Office of Waste Isolation, Technical Support for GEIS: Radioactive Waste Isolation in Geologic Formations, Y/OWI/TM-36/12, Vol. 12 "Repository Preconceptual Design Studies: Shale," prepared by Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas, Inc., San Francisco, California, April 1978.

- 49 -

- Office of Waste Isolation, Technical Support for GEIS: Radioactive Waste Isolation in Geologic Formations, Y/OWI/TM-36/14, Vol. 14, "Repository Preconceptual Design Studies: Basait," prepared by Parsons Brinckerhoff Quade & Douglas, Inc., San Francisco, California, April 1978.
- 14. Karn-Bransle-Sakerhet, Eandling of Spent Nuclear Fuel and Final Storage of Vitrified Eigh-Level Reprocessing Waste (in five volumes), Sweden, 1978.
- 15. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Office of Nuclear Material Safeguards and Safety, Workshop Material for State Review of USNRC Site Suitability Criteria for Eigh-Level Radioactive Waste Repositories, NUREG-0326, Washington, D.C., September 1977.
- 16. Lang, T. A., "Theory and Practice of Rock Bolting," Transactions of the American Institute of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 223, 1962.
- 17. Cook, N. G. W., and J. C. Jaeger, Fundamentals of Rock Mechanics, Second Edition, John Wiley, New York, 1976.
- U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Guidance on the License Application, Siting, Design, and Plant Protection for an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation, Regulatory Guide 3.24, Washington, D.C., December 1974.
- 19. Nucleonics Week, Vol. 19, No. 37, McGraw-Hill, 1978.
- Proctor, R. V., and T. L. White, Rock Tunneling with Steel Supports, Commercial Shearing and Stamping Company, Youngstown, Ohio, 1946, revised 1968.
- 21. Stevens, P. R., A Review of the Effects of Earthquakes on Underground Mines, Open-File Report 77-313, U.S. Department of the Interior, Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, April 1977.
- 22. Dowding, C. H., "Seismic Stability of Underground Openings," Proceedings of the Rockstore Conference, Stockholm, Sweden, September 1977.
- 23. Dowding, C. H., and A. Rozen, "Damage to Rock Tunnels from Earthquake Shaking," *Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division*, American Society of Civil Engineers, Vol. 104, No. GT2, 1978.
- Yamahara, H., Y. Hisatomi, and T. Morie, "A Study on the Earthquake Safety of Rock Cavern," Proceedings of the Rockstore Conference, Stockholm, Sweden, September 1977.
  - 25. Campbell, R. B., and J. S. Dodd, "Estimated Rock Stresses at Morrow Point Underground Power Plant From Earthquakes and Underground Nuclear Blasts," Status of Fracticed Rock Mechanics — Ninth Symposium on Rock Mechanics, Colorado School of Mines, April 1967, published by the Society of Mining Engineers of AIME, 1972.

26. Bodds, R. K., K. Eriksson, and T. R. Kuesei, "Hined Rock Caverns for Underground Nuclear Plants in California," *Proceedings of 19th U.S. Rock Mechanics Symposium*, Mackay School of Mines, University of Nevada, May 1978, published by Conferences and Institutes, Extended Programs and Continuing Education, University of Nevada, Reno, Nevada, 1978.

95. 1911 - 1913 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 - 1914 -

- 27. "Earthquake Engineering of Large Underground Structure," National Science Foundation Grant, Number 77-06505, to URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, San Francisco, California, April 1978 (work in progress).
- Engineering Research Associates, "Underground Explosion Test Program, Final Report," Rock, Vol. 2, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Sacramento District, April 1953.
- Hendron, A. J., "Engineering of Rock Biasting on Civil Projects," Structural and Geotechnical Mechanics, E. J. Hall, ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1977.
- Personal communication from J. LaComb, Department of Defense, Nevada Test Site, to URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, San Francisco, California, December 1977.
- 31. Zoback, M. D., and J. D. Byerlee, "The Effect of Microcrack Dilatancy on the Permeability of Westerly Granite," *Journal of Geophysical Research*, Vol. 80, No. 5, February 10, 1975.
- 32. Zoback, M. D., and J. D. Byerlee, "The Effect of Cyclic Differential Stress on Dilatancy in Westerly Granite under Uniaxial and Triaxial Conditions," Journal of Geophysical Research, Vol. 80, No. 11, April 10, 1975.
- 33. Iwasaki, T., S. Wakabayashi, and F. Tatsuoka, "Characteristics of Underground Seismic Motions at Four Sites around Tokyo Bay," Wind and Seismic Effects, H. S. Lew, ed., U.S. Department of Commerce, May 1977.
- 34. Blume, J. A., Surface and Subsurface Ground Motions, paper presented at Engineering Foundation Conference, Earthquake Protection of Underground Utility Structures, Asilomar, California, September 5-9, 1972.
- 35. Kanai, K., T. Tanaka, S. Yoshizawa, T. Morishito, K. Osada, and T. Suzuki, "Comparative Studies of Earthquake Motions on the Ground and Underground, 11," Bulletin of the Earthquake Research Institute, Vol. 44, 1966.
- Lysmer, J., T. Udaka, C. F. Tsai, and H. B. Seed, FLUSH -- A Computer Program for Approximate 3-D Analysis of Soil-Structure Interaction Problems, Report No. EERC 75-30, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, California, November 1975.
- 37. Banister, J. R., D. M. Ellett, C. R. Mehl, and F. F. Dean, "Stress and Strains Developed by the Reflection of Seismic Waves at a Free Surface," Draft Report No. SAND77-0673, Sandia Laboratories, Albuquerque, New Mexico, February 1978.
- 38. Nair, G. P., and J. J. Emery, "Spatial Variations in Selsmic Motions," Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering, National Research Council of Canada, Vol. 3, No. 1, 1976.

- 51 -

- 39. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Design Response Spectra for Seismic Design of Nuclear Power Plants, Regulatory Guide 1.60, Revision 1, December 1973.
- 40. Sandler, I. S., "Cap Model for Static and Dynamic Problems," Proceedings of 17th U.S. Symposium on Rock Mechanics, Snowbird, Utah, August 1976, published by Utah Engineering Experiment Station, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, 1976.
- 41. Roberds, W. J., and H. H. Einstein, "Comprehensive Model for Rock Discontinuities," *Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division*, American Society of Civil Engineers, May 1978.
- 42. Carriveau, A. R., "The Use of the STEALTH Finite-Difference Program for Linear Elastic Soll-Structure Interaction Analyses," Applications in Soil-Structure Interaction, Electric Power Research Institute Research Report No. RP810-3, Vol. 1, 1978.
- 43. Zienkiewicz, O. C., The Finite Element Method in Engineering Science, McGraw-Hill, London, 1971.
- 44. Bathe, K.-J., E. L. Wilson, and F. E. Peterson, SAP IV, A Structural Analysis Program for Static and Dynamic Response of Linear Systems, Report No. EERC 73-11, Earthquake Engineering Research Center, University of California, Berkeley, California, 1974.
- 45. Agbabian Associates, Analytic Modeling of Rock Structure Interaction, R-7215-2701 (in three volumes), El Segundo, California, April 1973.
- 46. Karwoski, W. J., and D. E. Van Dillen, "Applications of BMINES Three Dimensional Finite Element Computer Code to Large Mine Structural Problems," *Proceedings of 19th U.S. Rock Mechanics Symposium*, Mackay School of Mines, University of Nevada, May 1978, published by Conferences and Institutes, Extended Programs and Continuing Education, University of Nevada, Reno, Nevada, 1978.
- 47. Goodman, R. E., R. L. Taylor, and T. L. Brekke, "A Model for the Mechanics of Jointed Rock," Journal of the Soil Mechanics and Foundations Division, American Society of Civil Engineers, May 1968.
- 48. URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, Comparative Structural Analysis of Type III Underground Waste Storage Tanks at the Savannah River Plant, Aiken, South Carolina, prepared for E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Wilmington, Delaware, December 1976.
- 49. URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, Engineering Study of Remedial Measures for Tunnel No. 1, prepared for Southern Pacific Company, San Francisco, California, August 1968.
- 50. Haskell, N. A., "The Dispersion of Surface Waves on Multilayered Media," Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, Vol. 43, No. 1, January 1953.

- 51. Now, C. C., and Y. Pao, The Diffraction of Elastic Waves and Dynamic Stress Concentrations, Report for the USAF Project Rand, R-482-PR, April 1971.
- 52. Carriveau, A. R., J. M. Zanetti, and R. B. Edwards, "Dynamic Longitudinal Response of a Buried Cavity of Circular Cross Section," submitted by URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, for publication to the 3rd Canadian Conference on Earthquake Engineering, June 1979.
- 53. Newmark, N. M., "Problems in Wave Propagation in Soil and Rock," Proceedings, International Symposium on Wave Propagation and Dynamic Properties of Earth Materials, University of New Mexico Press, Albuquerque, New Mexico, August 23-25, 1968.
- 54. Owen, G. N., R. E. Scholl, and T. L. Brekke, Earthquake Engineering of *Twomels*, paper presented at the Rapid Excavation and Tunneling Conference, Atlanta, Georgia, June 18-20, 1979.
- 55. URS/John A. Blume & Associates, Engineers, "Risk Analysis for Geologic Waste Isolation," prepared for Battelle Pacific Northwest Laboratories, Richland, Washington, 1978 (draft).
- 56. Contreras, H. T., "Stochastic Differential Equations; Applications in Civil Engineering," to be published as a Report of Institute of Engineering, University of Mexico, 1977.
- 57. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Reactor Safety Study, An Assessment of Accident Risks in U.S. Commercial Nuclear Power Flants, WASH-1400 (NUREG-75-014), October 1975.

### DISTRIBUTION: JAB-00099-128

Adaptronics, Inc. 1750 Old Meadow Road . McLean, VA 22102

Joe Lahoud

Basler & Hofmann Forchstrasse 395 CH-8029 Zurich Switzerland

Rolf Saegesser

Battelle Memorial Institute Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

Sam Basham Wayne Carbiener John Carr Neal E. Carter Nadia Dayem Fred Djahanguiri M. M. Lemcoe Sam C. Mathews ONWI Library (5 copies) Richard A. Robinson

Dr. George A. Brown Council Member 374 South Rock River Drive Berea, OH 44017

Brown University Department of Geological Sciences Providence, RI 02912

Bruno Giletti

California Energy Resources Conservation & Development Department 1111 Howe Avenue Sacramento, CA 95825

Art Soinski

State of California Seismic Safety Commission 1900 K. Street, Suite 100 Sacrameto, CA 95814

Dr. Bob Olsen

Civil Systems, Inc. 2450 Washington Avenue San Leandro, CA 94557

Robert Pyke

State of Connecticut House of Representatives One Hundred and Sixth District 24 Rock Ridge Road Newton, CT 06470

John W. Anderson

State of Connecticut Energy Research and Policy 80 Washington Street Hartford, CT 06115

Faith N. Brenneman

Dartmouth College Department of Earth Sciences Hanover, NH 03755

John Lyons

Energy Facility Site Evaluation Council 820 East Fifth Avenue Olympia, WA 98504

Nicholas D. Lewis

Environmental Policy Institute Radiation Health Information Project 317 Pennsylvania Ave., S.E. Washington, DC 20003

Elli Walters

Federal Agency Relations 1050 17th St., N.W. Washington, DC 20036

Owen H. Davis, Director

Fenix & Scisson, Inc. Post Office Box 15408 Las Vegas, NV 89114

Jack A. Cross

Fenix & Scisson, Inc. Post Office Box 498 Mercury, NV 89023

Fred D. Waltman

State of Florida Department of Environmental Regulation Twin Towers Office Bldg. 2600 Blair Stone Road Tallahassee, FL 32301

Donald S. Kell

Geologic Society of America 3300 Penrose Place Boulder, CO 80301

John C. Frye

Golder Associates, Inc. 10628 N.E. 38th Place Kirkland, WA 98033

Renner Hofmann David L. Pentz

Hanford Engineering Development Laboratory Post Office Box 1970 Richland, WA 99352

Dave Cantley

Harvard University Department of Earth Sciences Cambridge, MA 02138

Raymond Siever

Holmes & Narver, Inc. Post Office Box 14340 Las Vegas, NV 89114

A. E. Gurrola

Holmes & Narver, Inc. Post Office Box 1 Mercury, NV 89023

George E. Christensen

State of Illinois Director for Policy and Planning Room 300, 325 West Adams Street Springfield, IL 62706

Dr. Anthony Liberatore

International Atomic Energy Agency Division of Nuclear Power & Reactors Karntner Ring 11 Post Office Box 590, A-1011 Vienna, Austria

John P. Colton

Kaiser Engineers P.O. Box 23210 Oakland, CA 94623

Steven C. Smith

State of Kansas Department of Health and Environment Bureau of Radiation Control Forbes Field Topeka, KS 66620

Gerald W. Allen, Director

Commonwealth of Kentucky Department for Human Resources Frankfort, KY 40601

Richard M. Fry

Law Engineering Testing Co. 2749 Delk Road, S.E. Marietta, GA 30067

Bud Woodward
Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Energy & Environment Division University of California Berkeley, CA 94720

Paul Witherspoon

Lawrence Livermore Laboratory University of California Post Office Box 808 Livermore, CA 94550

Lynden B. Ballou, L-204 (3 copies) Richard C. Carlson, L-204 Alfred Holzer, L-209 J. S. Kahn, L-49 Aubrey B. Miller L-204 Lawrence D. Ramspott, L-204 Kenneth Street, L-209

Arthur D. Little, Inc. Acorn Park Cambridge, MA 02140

Charles R. Hadlock

Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory University of California Post Office Box 1663 Los Alamos, NM 87545

Bruce M. Crowe, M/S 978 Lawrence S. Germain, M/S 570 Lloyd Lanham, M/S 755 Joseph R. Smyth, M/S 978 Kurt Wolfsberg (2 copies)

State of Louisiana Nuclear Projects Coordinator Nuclear Energy Division Post Office Box 14690 Baton Rouge, LA 70808

L. Hall Bohlinger

State of Maryland Department of Natural Resources Energy Administration Tawes State Office Bldg. Annapolis, MD 21401

Paul Massicot, Acting Director

State of Massachusetts Office of Energy Resources 73 Tremont Street Boston, MA 02108

Dr. Lillian Morgenstern

State of Michigan Executive Office Lansing, Mi 48909

William C. Taylor, Science Advisor

Mississippi Department of Natural Resources Suite 228, Barefield Complex 455 North Lamar Street Jackson, MS 39201

P. T. Bankston

Missouri Department of Natural Resources Post Office Box 176 Jefferson City, MO 65102

Todd D. Davis

State of Nevada Department of Energy Capitol Complex Carson City, NV 89710

Noel Clark

State of Nevada Governor's Office of Planning Coordination Capitol Complex Carson City, NV 89710

Robert Hill, State Planning Coordinator

State of Ohio Environmental Protection Agency Box 1049, 361 E. Broad St. Columbus, OH 43216

James F. McAvoy, Director

State of Oklahoma Radiation Protection Division 1000 Northeast 10th Street Post Office Box 53551 Oklahoma City, OK 73152

Robert L. Craig, Director

Oregon Department of Energy Labor & Industries Bldg. Room 111 Salem, OR 97310

Donald W. Godard

Lewis L. Oriard 3502 Sagamore Drive Huntington Beach, CA 92649

Princeton University Department of Civil Engineering Princeton, NJ 08540

George Pinder

Public Law Utilities Group One American Place, Suite 1601 Baton Rouge, LA 70825

Doris Falkenheier, Assistant Director

Reynolds Electrical & Engineering Co., Inc. Post Office Box 14400 Las Vegas, NV 89114 Gaylan W. Adair

Edward J. Beecher Harold D. Cunningham Collin W. Dunnam William G. Flangas Victor M. Milligan

Rockwell International Atomics International Division Rockwell Hanford Operations Richland, WA 99352

Richard Bielefeld J. A. Caggiano, Jr. Raul Deju Bernie Dietz George C. Evans Ralph E. Johnson Susan M. Price D. A. Turner

Sandia Laboratories Post Office Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Everet H. Beckner - D. M. Ellett - Joe A. Fernandez - Robert M. Jefferson - Morgan L. Kramm - Richard C. Lincoln - Richard W. Lynch - Fioyd L. McFarling - Gerald F. Rudolfo - Lynn D. Tyler - Wendell D. Weart -

Savannah River Laboratory Aiken, SC 29801

I. Wendell Marine

State of South Carolina Division of Energy Resources Edgar A. Brown Bldg. 1205 Pendleton Street Columbia, SC 29201

Dr. Lamar E. Priester, Jr.

Tennessee Energy Authority Suite 708 Capitol Blvd. Bldg. Nashville, TN 37219

Jack A. Thomas, Associate Director

Texas A&M University Center for Tectonophysics College Station, TX 77840

John Handin

University of Arizona Nuclear Fuel Cycle Research Tucson, AZ 85721

Charles E. Glass James G. McCray University of California Department of Civil Engineering Berkeley, CA 94720

Dr. Tor L. Brekke

University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign Department of Civil Engineering Urbana, IL 61801

Dr. E. J. Cording

University of Kansas Kansas Geological Survey Lawrence, KS 66044

W. W. Hambleton

University of Texas at Austin University Station, Box X Austin, TX 78712

E. G. Wermund

U.S. Department of Energy Albuquerque Operations Office Post Office Box 5400 Albuquerque, NM 87115

Dorner T. Schueler, Jr.

U.S. Department of Energy Assistant Secretary for Defense Programs Mail Stop SF-066 Washington, DC 20545 Duane C. Sewell (DP-1)

U.S. Department of Energy Assistant Secretary Nuclear Energy Mail Stop 6E-09S Washington, DC 20545

George W. Cunningham (NE-1)

U.S. Department of Energy Columbus Program Richland Operations Office 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

Jeff O. Neff

U.S. Department of Energy Director of External Affairs, Region 9 111 Pine Street, 3rd Floor San Francisco, CA 94111

Dale J. Cook

U.S. Department of Energy Nevada Operations Office Post Office Box 14100 Las Vegas, NV 89114

Thomas H. Blankenship Charles P. Bromley Bruce W. Church James B. Cotter Shed R. Elliott Mahlon E. Gates Perry N. Halstead David G. Jackson Mitchell P. Kunich R. R. Loux (10 copies) Roy H. Marks, CP-1 Henry L. Melancon Paul J. Mudra Robert M. Nelson Robert W. Newman Allen J. Roberts Robert W. Taft

U.S. Department of Energy NTS Support Office Post Office Box 435 Mercury, NV 89023

Joseph H. Dryden Fred Huckabee Lester P. Skousen

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Nuclear Waste Management Mail Stop B-107 Washington, DC 20545

Carl R. Cooley (NE-30) Mark W. Frei (NE-30) Colin A. Heath (NE-30) Sheldon Meyers (NE-30) Raymond G. Romatowski (NE-30) Ralph Stein, OW (NE-30) Donald L. Vieth (NE-30) U.S. Department of Energy Richland Operations Office Post Office Box 550 Richland, WA 99352

David J. Squires Frank Standerfer

U.S. Department of Energy San Francisco Operations Office 1333 Broadway, Wells Fargo Bldg. Oakland, CA 94612

Leonard Lanni

U.S. Department of Energy Technical Information Center (27 copies) Post Office Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37830

U.S. Geological Survey Post Office Box 25046 Federal Center Denver, CO 80225

Gary L. Dixon, M/S 954 Walter W. Hays William S. Twenhofel, M/S 954

U.S. Geological Survey National Center Reston, VA 22092

G. D. DeBuchananne, M/S 410 Peter R. Stevens, M/S 410 David B. Stewart, M/S 959

U.S. House of Representatives Subcommittee on Energy Research & Production Room 8-374 Rayburn House Office Bldg. Washington, DC 20575

Steve Lanes, Staff Director

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555

Regis Boyle, M/S P-522 Julie D'Ambrosia M/S 905-SS Edward Hawkins M/S 905-SS James C. Malaro, M/S SS-674

State of Virginia Environmental Program Supervisor 903 Ninth Street Office Bldg. Richmond, VA 23219

Keith J. Buttleman

State of Washington Office of the Governor Legislative Building Olympia, WA 98504

Governor Dixie Lee Ray

Westinghouse Post Office Box 708 Mercury, NV 89023

Dave C. Durrill (7 copies)

Westinghouse - AESD Post Office Box 10864 Pittsubrgh, PA 15236

- R. J. Bahorich
- C. R. Bolmgren
- T. E. Cross
- W. A. Henninger

W. R. Morris

J. B. Wright (6 copies)

Woodward-Clyde Consultants No. 3 Embarcadero Center San Francisco, CA 94111

Western Region Library